NONFARM EMPLOYMENT IN SMALL-SCALE FOREST-BASED ENTERPRISES: POLICY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

By J. E. M. Arnold

Working Paper #11, 49 pages, March, 1994

For more information, contact:

J. E. M. Arnold
Oxford Forestry Institute
Department of Plant Sciences
University of Oxford
South Parks Road
Oxford OX1 3RB
United Kingdom

Tel: 44 865 275145 Fax: 44 865 275074

For copies of this publication, contact:

Ellen Maurer Communications Director EPAT/MUCIA Research & Training University of Wisconsin-Madison 1003 WARF Office Building 610 Walnut Street Madison, WI USA 53705-2397 email: eamaurer@facstaff.wisc.edu

Tel: (608) 263-4781 Fax: (608) 265-2993

Email: eamaurer@facstaff.wisc.edu

Layout by Lesa Langan and Sharon Graham

* Some figures and/or tables included in the printed version of this publication could not be included in this electronic version. If you need copies of these figures or tables, please contact the author.

PROJECT INFORMATION

A USAID-funded global program, the Environmental and Natural Resources Policy and Training Project (EPAT), is implemented, in part, by 15 universities and development organizations through the Midwest Universities Consortium for International Activities, Inc. (MUCIA).

EPAT/MUCIA has research, training, and communication components that offer the latest information about:

- * Energy, Industry & the Urban Environment
- * Forestry & Watershed Management
- * Macroeconomic Policy
- * Population & the Environment
- * Institutions & Policy Implementation
- * Environmental Policy Training
- * Environmental Policy Communications

EPAT/MUCIA publications include:

- * Policy Briefs short overviews of environmental policy concerns
- * Case Studies outlining specific in-country policy challenges
- * Manuals how-to-do-it environmental policy handbooks for easy reference
- * Working Papers of environmental policy research in progress
- * Monographs detailing the state of knowledge in particular

subject matter areas.

EPAT/MUCIA environmental policy partners apply their research to real problems, and they are eager to collaborate with researchers throughout the world.

USAID Missions, national and international agencies, and host country governments can collaborate with the ${\tt EPAT/MUCIA}$ project by contacting:

Chief of Party Tel: (703) 841-0026 Fax: (703) 841-0699

EPAT/MUCIA-Research and Training partners include University of Arizona; Cornell University; University of Illinois; Indiana University; University of Iowa; University of Michigan; Michigan State University; University of Minnesota; The Ohio State University; Purdue University; University of Wisconsin; Abt Associates; Development Alternatives, Inc.; Development Associates, Inc.; and World Resources Institute.

ISSN # 1072-9496

Employment and income from non-farm activities are of increasing importance in the rural economy of developing countries. Small forest-based enterprise activities constitute one of the largest sources of such income. They also account for a large part of the total harvest from forests in many areas.

Many agriculturalists supplement their income through gathering and trading products such as forest foods, medicinal plants, and fuel wood. Small-scale manufacturing of items such as furniture, baskets, mats, and craft goods constitute substantial informal sector industries. Income from these activities tends to be particularly important during seasonal shortfalls in food and cash crop income and in periods of drought or other emergencies.

Ease of access to forest raw materials means that forest-based activities are particularly important for the poor and for women. However, some of the simpler activities provide very low returns to labor, and may thus provide only minimal and short-lived livelihood contributions. Some of the most important saleable forest products face uncertain markets because of growing competition from industrial or synthetic alternatives or domesticated sources of the materials. As demand grows, some activities are also threatened by depletion of, or reduced access to, forest resources.

In developing policies in support of sustainable activities, it is therefore important to be able to distinguish between those that have a potential to grow and those that do not. Policy issues include regulations that discriminate against the informal sector, policies that result in the shift from managed to uncontrolled open access use of forest resources, and restrictions on private production and sale of forest products that impede the development of farm-based sources of these products.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

SIZE AND CHARACTERISTICS
Processing Enterprises
Gathering and Trading Enterprises

SMALL ENTERPRISES AND HOUSEHOLD SECURITY
The Contribution of Forest-based Income
Dependence of the Poor and Women on Forest-based Income

SMALL ENTERPRISES, GROWTH AND CHANGE Processing Activities

Gathering and Trading Activities Within the Local Economy Extraction and Trade in Industrial Products

RESOURCE AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
Impact of Resource Depletion on Small Enterprises
Access and Use Rights

Impacts of Harvesting by Small Enterprises
The Shift in Tree Resources from Forest to Farm

POLICY ISSUES

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

NOTES

REFERENCES

BIBLIOGRAPHY

INTRODUCTION

Employment and income from small-scale nonfarm enterprise activities are becoming of growing importance in the rural economy of developing countries. In stagnant or slowly growing agricultural areas small enterprise activities provide employment to surplus labor; in conditions of growing agricultural incomes they contribute to the process of growth, diversification, and the shift to more productive uses of rural resources (Haggblade and Liedholm 1991).

It has been estimated that rural nonfarm work provides 20 to 45% of full-time employment in rural areas and 30 to 50% of rural household income (Kilby and Liedholm 1986, Haggblade and Hazell 1989). Despite its magnitude and importance the small enterprise sector has until recently been largely neglected. Information about the sector is therefore limited, though rapidly increasing.

Much of the early knowledge-generating effort has been devoted to census-type surveys, to determine the magnitude, structure and basic characteristics of the small enterprise sector. These studies have shown that small forest-based activities everywhere account for a substantial proportion of the total--"around the world, three activities have consistently been identified as the most important categories among micro and small manufacturing enterprises: textiles and wearing apparel, food and beverages, and wood and forest products" (Liedholm and Mead 1992). This is as true of countries with limited forest resources (table 1) as of forest-rich countries.

Table 1. Sectoral breakdown of small manufacturing enterprises in rural areas in selected countries in Africa (percent of all enterprises).

	Botswana	Lesotho	Malawi
Food, beverages	52.7	62.4	31.1
Textiles	34.5	26.2	17.2
Wood, grass products	4.3	8.1	33.3
Other	8.5	3.3	18.4
	Swaziland	Zimbabwe	
Food, beverages	12.1	15.6	
Textiles	24.8	27.3	
Wood, grass products	60.7	42.7	
Other	2.4	14.4	

Source: based on Liedholm and Mead 1992.

Forest-based enterprise activities are defined here as those that use any materials or products that occur in forests or woodland, or from trees outside the forest. There is a vast range of such forest-based products from which rural people, and especially the poor, derive income. Gathered products include fuelwood, rattan, bamboo, fibers, medicines, gums, and wild foods to name but a few. Forests also provide the raw materials for many small-scale rural processing and manufacturing enterprises, such as wood for furniture and implement making, canes, reeds and vines for basket, mat and handicraft production, wood for charcoal production, nuts and seeds for oil processing, and bark for tannin processing. In addition, fuelwood provides the main energy source for many other small-scale processing enterprises such as fish smoking, beer brewing, and brickmaking (Falconer and Arnold 1989).

The present paper is intended to bring together information that is available about small forest-based enterprises, and to examine their impact on sustainable development [note 1]. Such an exercise is necessarily shaped by the extent and quality of the data available. Because they operate from fixed locations, and are therefore more easily located and observed, most of the quantitative data on numbers of enterprises relate to processing, manufacturing and retailing activities. Information about gathering activities and activities such as fuelwood headloading that do not have fixed premises is mainly of a descriptive nature, from narrowly situation-specific studies. Both categories of information document the situation at a particular point in time, and can provide insights into the functioning of enterprises at that time, but seldom shed much light on the dynamics of change.

An added complication in understanding the functioning of forest-based small enterprises is the difficulty in defining boundaries around this type of activity. Many marketable products, particularly hunted and gathered foods and commodities such as fuelwood, are also used within the household. For many producers there is no clear distinction

between activities to meet their subsistence needs, and producing for the market; they sell what is surplus to their needs or in response to the opportunity selling provides to generate needed cash income. Similarly, much of the resource from which many nontimber forest products are harvested sits astride an often ill-defined boundary between farm and nonfarm -- being produced in managed fallow or farm bush for example. It is then difficult to separate nonfarm from farming activities. A related difficulty, common to all kinds of small rural enterprise, arises because a forest-based activity very often constitutes just one activity within an agricultural household. It then becomes difficult to separate out that part of household time, costs, returns, etc., that is attributable to just that activity.

Within the limits imposed by the above considerations, the present review is concerned only with income earning activities. The focus is also on rural enterprises. However, it should be kept in mind that forest-based small enterprises - in particular small woodworking enterprises also constitute a major part of the urban informal sector (Poschen 1987).

In addition to their importance as a source of rural employment and income, forest-based small enterprises account for much of the volume of wood products entering the economy, and constitute the main channel through which nontimber forest products enter the market. In aggregate, they can therefore be heavy users of forest resources, and may thus contribute to ecological change and environmental degradation.

In the next section we look at the nature and extent of forest-based small enterprise activities, and outline their main characteristics. The following section examines some of the main changes in small enterprise activity over time, and the section after that explores the extent of rural households' dependence on employment and income from these activities. The next section examines resource and environmental implications of small forest-based enterprise activities, the penultimate section looks at policy and institutional issues, and the final section draws together lessons that are emerging about constraints and potentials facing small forest-based enterprises in situations at different stages of development.

SIZE AND CHARACTERISTICS

There is no single universally accepted definition of what comprises a small-scale enterprise. A distinction is usually made between very small cottage activities characterized by household location and traditional artisanal techniques and somewhat larger workshop enterprises employing some modern techniques. A convenient dividing line between the two can be taken to be five workers, with 50 workers as the ceiling for small enterprises. As many small enterprises even if workshop-based continue to partly depend on a household base, it is not easy to neatly categorize cottage and workshop types.

Though the different categories overlap, it is useful to distinguish between enterprises that manufacture products from materials from the forest, and those that simply gather and sell forest products. This is partly in order to reflect differences in the data bases for the two, but mainly in order to be able to distinguish differences in the economic role and potential of these different categories of enterprise.

Processing Enterprises

Though the absolute numbers of those involved in small-scale forest-based processing may not be high in relation to the entire rural population, they form a large share of those employed outside agriculture. The estimated 90,000 persons employed in informal forest-based processing in the rural areas of Zambia in 1985, for example, accounted for one third of all rural manufacturing employment in the country (Fisseha and Milimo 1986). Of the 51,000 persons found to be employed in craft activities in Rufiji District in neighboring Tanzania, more than 70% were engaged in forest-based activities (table 2).

Over a range of countries for which survey information exist (table 3), forest-based processing accounted for from 16% of total estimated employment in rural manufacturing in Honduras to 35% in Jamaica (FAO 1987). For Africa as a whole it has been estimated to be the second largest rural industry (Page and Steel 1984). Even in Egypt, a country practically devoid of wood resources of its own, manufacture of wooden furniture was the third largest industry outside large towns and cities (Mead 1982).

Small forest-based manufacturing enterprises process a wide range of materials from the forest. In rural areas, most produce either wooden or cane/rattan furniture, builder's woodwork, agricultural implements, vehicle parts, and other products of wood; or baskets, mats, and other products of canes, reeds, vines, grasses, and similar materials. Both of these product groups serve predominantly rural household and agricultural markets for which they are usually the principal sources of supply for processed forest products. A third main enterprise type is that of handicrafts (especially decorative ones), the outputs of which usually go largely to urban markets, to tourists and sometimes even to export destinations (FAO 1987).

Table 2. Distribution of employment in crafts and extractive activities in Rufiji District, Tanzania.

Type of Activity	Men	Women	Total for Region
Craft activities			
Carpentry & other wood-based activities	2 761		2,761
Canoe making			881
Mat making		12,177	
Basketry	978	737	1,715
Coconut oil production	420	4,295	4,715
Thatcher		162	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Raffia	576	10	586
Extractive activities			
Honey collection			450
Mangrove cutting	3,098		3,098
Logging			262
Charcoal production	5,011	596	5,607
Total in forest-based			
activities	17,870	17,977	35,847
Other craft activities*	10,348	4,532	14,880
Total in craft activities	28,218	22,509	50,727

^{*} Includes all nonforest-based activities such as blacksmithing, masonry, tailoring, jaggery, salt production, grain milling, bicycle repair and fishing.

Source: Havnevick 1980.

Table 3. Characteristics of small forest-based manufacturing enterprises in selected countries.

		Honduras	Zambia
Share of total small enterprises		1.6	
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%)</pre>	47 49	16 14	
value of production (%)	47	11	
Employment			
total employment ('000)	10.2		137.4
family members (%)	82	51	86
<pre>women employed (%) women owners (%)</pre>	30 32	6 10	12 12
wollieff Owners (%)	32	10	12
Size of enterprise			
workers per enterprise (no)	2.2	2.2	1.7
one-person operations (%)	58	59	69
<pre>home based (%) average investment (US\$)</pre>	52 3,030	72 1,055	81
average investment (oby)	3,030	1,033	
Economic contribution			
rate of return on investment (%)		42	
net return to family labor (US\$)	2,494	1,221	
return to family labor as % of prevailing wage	164	156	
prevaring wage	101	130	
	Egypt Sie	rra Leone Bar	ngladesh
Share of total small enterprises			
value added (%)	18	23	18
value added (%) value of production (%)	18	23	18
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000)</pre>	18	23	18
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%)</pre>	18 19 89	23 27 18 (41)	18 73
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%)</pre>	18 19 89 31	23 27 18 (41)	18 73 21
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%)</pre>	18 19 89	23 27 18 (41)	18 73
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%) women owners (%)</pre>	18 19 89 31	23 27 18 (41)	18 73 21
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%)</pre>	18 19 89 31	23 27 18 (41)	18 73 21
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%) women owners (%) Size of enterprise workers per enterprise (no) one-person operations (%)</pre>	18 19 89 31 65	23 27 18 (41) 	18 73 21 (3)
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%) women owners (%) Size of enterprise workers per enterprise (no) one-person operations (%) home based (%)</pre>	18 19 89 31 65 1.9 69 76	23 27 18 (41) 	18 73 21 (3) 3.8 36
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%) women owners (%) Size of enterprise workers per enterprise (no) one-person operations (%)</pre>	18 19 89 31 65	23 27 18 (41) 	18 73 21 (3)
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%) women owners (%) Size of enterprise workers per enterprise (no) one-person operations (%) home based (%)</pre>	18 19 89 31 65 1.9 69 76	23 27 18 (41) 	18 73 21 (3) 3.8 36
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%) women owners (%) Size of enterprise workers per enterprise (no) one-person operations (%) home based (%) average investment (US\$)</pre>	18 19 89 31 65 1.9 69 76	23 27 18 (41) 	18 73 21 (3) 3.8 36
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%) women owners (%) Size of enterprise workers per enterprise (no) one-person operations (%) home based (%) average investment (US\$) Economic contribution rate of return on investment (%) net return to family labor (US\$)</pre>	18 19 89 31 65 1.9 69 76	23 27 18 (41) 1.8 431	18 73 21 (3) 3.8 36 255
<pre>value added (%) value of production (%) Employment total employment ('000) family members (%) women employed (%) women owners (%) Size of enterprise workers per enterprise (no) one-person operations (%) home based (%) average investment (US\$) Economic contribution rate of return on investment (%)</pre>	18 19 89 31 65 1.9 69 76 	23 27 18 (41) 1.8 431	18 73 21 (3) 3.8 36 255

Source: derived from Fisseha 1987.

As is evident from table 4, there is considerable variation between countries — even among quite similar countries. In regions within the forest zones other processing activities can loom large within the total. In West Africa, for example, major forest-based product activities include palm oil processing, other forest food processing, raffia and rattan basketry, woodworking, charcoal production and soap production (Falconer 1990). Fish smoking, another important activity,

depends on fuelwood, and cloth dyeing on bark and other vegetable dyes (Falconer 1990). Elsewhere, first-stage processing of raw materials for industrial use is important --e.g., treating rattan to protect it and improve its color (Beer and McDermott 1989), and the extraction of kernels of fruits such as babacu palm (May 1985).

Table 4. Composition of the small forest-based manufacturing enterprise group [note a] in selected countries (percent of total number of enterprises).

FBSSI types [note a]	Jamaica	Honduras	Zambia
Carpentry/furniture Wood carving/bamboo/cane Basket/mat/hat making	23.1 e 12.5	71.4	14.3 11.9
Other [note b]	0.9	17.8	13.5
FBSSI types [note a]	Egypt	Sierra Leone	Bangladesh
Carpentry/furniture	23.8	66.8	27.2
Wood carving/bamboo/cane	e	5.9	11.6
Basket/mat/hat making		23.8	32.4
Other [note b]	5.8	3.5	28.8

[Note a. Many enterprises do not specialize in the production of one item; so classification sometimes depends on the most dominant or important activity.]

[Note b. The "Other" category includes activities such as sawmilling and pitsawing, broom making in Honduras, fuelwood in Zambia, agricultural tools in Egypt, and container making and agricultural tools in Bangladesh.]

Source: based on Fisseha 1987.

Small forest-based processing enterprises are characterized by very small size, heavy reliance on entrepreneurs and members of their families for labor, technological simplicity of operations, low capital intensity, limited industrial and managerial skills, seasonality of activities (especially for the smallest ones), and rural locational bias. The average size of work force in the six countries featured in table 3 ranged from 1.7 to 3.8 persons. Over half the units were one-person, household-based operations, and less than one percent employed 10 workers or more. Up to nine in 10 persons working in the enterprises were the owners or members of their families, with the rest being mostly informal apprentices. Wages are usually very low, and working conditions poor.

The typical small forest-based enterprise thus depends heavily on inputs from the entrepreneur and his or her family. While likely to be technically proficient in craft skills acquired by working in other similar enterprises, the entrepreneur often lacks training in marketing or management but is nevertheless forced to deal with these in addition to being a production worker. Employees are generally without formal training in either the craft or management.

Such extreme smallness is most pronounced among forest-based small enterprises processing nonwood raw materials such as reeds and grasses; activities such as mat and basket making are predominantly household based and usually employ no powered equipment. Woodworking enterprises tend to be somewhat larger, and are more likely to be organized on a workshop basis with one or more machines. Production is rarely specialized and the products are more often than not made to order or in small batches, and work fluctuates seasonally in line with the patterns of agricultural income and activities. This pattern of production does not allow marked sharpening of any particular skill; the high cost of formal training is another barrier to acquisition of skills (FAO 1987).

In addition to the employment and income that they generate, small manufacturing enterprises can introduce vital skills into rural areas, conserve scarce managerial abilities, promote indigenous entrepreneurial capabilities, and channel into industry capital that otherwise would not be available for investment in this sector (Page and Steel 1984). The limited evidence available suggests that some small enterprise activities can be at least as efficient as their larger-scale counterparts in the use capital and other resources (Liedholm and Mead 1987). Furthermore, being small, such enterprises are able to utilize valuable but scattered pockets of forest resources that might otherwise go to waste.

Gathering and Trading Enterprises

Gathering and selling forest products is an important economic activity for many rural people. It is often implied that the collection of forest products as a major source of income is limited to forest-dwelling peoples. While forest dwellers do rely to a large extent on forest products, the forest product gathering and processing industries are far from limited to this population. Table 5 indicates the numbers involved in a range of different situations.

Many agriculturalists supplement their income through gathering and trading forest products. The degree of involvement commonly depends on the alternatives available, labor availability, and access to markets and the resource. The products collected vary with the composition and conditions of the forest resource, and with demands from local and in some cases urban or export markets. In southern Ghana, for instance, forest products that are gathered and sold include medicines, fuelwood, resins, bushmeat, snails, mushrooms, seeds, fruit, honey, canes, and chewstick logs (Falconer 1991).

Because of their intermittent, often transitory nature, gathering activities are less visible, and therefore less easily identified and recorded. Information on overall magnitudes and patterns of enterprise activity of the kind that censuses and surveys have produced for processing activities are therefore not available for gathering

activities. What follows is drawn from case study examples from the literature that illustrate the nature, dimensions, and importance of employment and income from forest gathering activities.

Although most studies focus on products gathered for urban and export markets, these may not be the most important in terms of contribution to rural income and employment, or of quantities involved. Case study material suggests that the bulk of trade in gathered forest products is local--being sold between households or in village or other rural markets. Baskets, mats, household and farm implements, and forest foods tend to feature heavily at this level. The fact that producing and selling at this level escapes both census and market reporting mechanisms helps explain why they feature so thinly in statistics and survey reports. The survey of small forest-based enterprises in Zambia, for example, indicated the existence of a total of 2,147 wood fuel enterprises at a time when localized studies suggested that probably 25,000 people were engaged in this trade (Fisseha and Milimo 1986). It is therefore likely that the magnitude of domestic trading in such products is being generally underestimated.

Table 5. Estimates of employment in forest-based activities.

Source (region)

Employment and activity

Tewari, 1982 (India)

Tendu leaf collection provides part time employment to 7.5 million people; a further 3 million people are employed in bidi processing; 3 million people are involved in lac (resin) production; 735,000 people earn income from sericulture; 550,000 people are employed in bamboo-based craft enterprises.

Jha & Jha, 1985 (India)

126,000 households are involved in Tassar silk cultivation.

Tandon, 1991 (India)

Match production by cottage industries employs 50,000 people, and small-scale factory production a further 195,000.

Fisseha & Milimo, 1986 (Zambia)

25,000 are involved in the fuelwood trade.

Marks, et al., 1984 (Zambia)

48,000 people are employed in charcoal production (36,000 of them are part-time charcoal producers and traders); 11,500 people are involved with bee-keeping; 96,000 households earn income from handicraft production.

Peluso, 1986 (Indonesia)

83,000-100,000 people are engaged in collection, trade and processing of rattan

Kaye, 1988 (Cote d'Ivoire)

Estimates 65,000 people are involved in rattan cane basketry part-time while 1,500 are involved full-time.

Schwartzmann et al., 1987 (Amazon)
Estimates that half a million people depend on latex as their main source of income.

Browder, 1989 (Amazon)

Estimates 1.5 million people derive a significant proportion of their income from extractive activities.

Gathering and trade in some products has expanded greatly to support growing urban populations. These domestic trade flows have given rise to often complex structures of producers, traders, transporters, wholesalers, and retailers, that employ very large numbers of people. A study of forest product markets in Iquitos in Peru identified approximately 5,000 vendors of various forest products in the city in 1986, with the number having grown by nearly a quarter over the previous year. These vendors were supplied by a network of wholesalers, large merchants, and several levels of buyers and sellers down to the village. In 14 villages in the region that were surveyed, nearly all households gathered and sold some forest products; most selling to trading intermediaries in the village. The main products traded included fruits, leaves, and palm hearts; bags, baskets, and other handicrafts; thatch and other building materials; meat and skins; charcoal and fuelwood; and medicinal plants and fish (Padoch 1988, 1990).

Similar patterns exist elsewhere. Table 6 shows the situation in Kumasi, in the Ashante region of Ghana, in which there were on average 650 traders selling forest products in the city's main market during the period it was being studied, with an average of 70 traders bringing supplies in to the city daily. The Kumasi market serves as a hub for trade throughout the region, drawing goods into a central point and redistributing them to other markets. It was found that 68% of those interviewed in villages in the region got part of their income from forest-based activities (Falconer 1991).

The third main category of gathered and traded forest products comprises commodities that enter industrial use and international trade. A number of forest products--e.g., natural rubber and other exudates, fruits of various palms, and various vegetable oils--have been produced in this way in the past, but most such trades have been displaced by domesticated or synthetic alternatives. One of the most important such products at present, in terms of traded value, is the climbing palm rattan (subfamily Calamoideae). Produced in several countries of Southeast Asia (and with similar products harvested in other forest zones) the bulk of production comes from Kalimantan in Indonesia.

Table 6. Commonly traded forest products in Ashante and Western region markets, Ghana.

Foods: Household goods:

oods: Cola nut nails Charcoal Bushmeat Medicines: Sponge Snails Mortars

Spoons and utensils

Fruit Leaves
Seeds Bark
Spices: Seeds & Fruit
Cloves Animal products
Nutmeg Prepared tonics
Chewsticks Marantaceae leaves Wooden trays Grinders Mats Baskets Chewsticks Marantaceae leaves Tool handles Chewing sponge Other food wrappers Rubber balls

Source: based on Falconer 1991.

Most production of rattan is by collecting households that harvest the rattan from the natural forest, and from rattan gardens that are managed as part of their shifting cultivation system. Rattan collection is thus just one of the activities engaged in by the household; their involvement being determined by the demands and potentials of agricultural activities, access to and relationship with rattan buyers, and access to and property rights to rattan. Collectors sell to village intermediaries, who are commonly merchants or shopkeepers who provide goods to the collectors, often on credit to be repaid in rattan and other forest products. Village middlemen sell the rattan to river middlemen or trade boat operators who in turn sell to urban buyers who function as the link with industrial or export buyers. Traditionally supply has thus involved networks of local collectors and intermediaries bound by long-term (often debt-based) trading relationships (Peluso 1986, 1992). Very large numbers of people are involved in aggregate in this system (table 5), and in 1987 Indonesia exported 130,000 tons of rattan, valued at about US\$200 million. In addition large quantities are used domestically (Beer and McDermott 1989).

The collection and sale of nuts and palm oil seeds is an another important enterprise in many parts of the world. It has been estimated that approximately 450,000 households in northeastern Brazil rely on cash earned from the sale of gathered and oil-processed kernels of the babacu palm ("Orbignya phalerata"). The majority of farmers in the area are poor tenants, and kernel collection is one of the few ways they can supplement their cash income. Both men and women are involved with the collection of babacu fruit though it is primarily the women who are involved with oil extraction from the kernels. The palm also provides many other products including thatch, basketry, charcoal, and food (May "et al." 1985).

The Contribution of Forest-based Income

Many rural households have diversified income earning strategies, and are involved in more than one principal activity. Characteristically, forest-based activities are only part of a household enterprise. In Zambia 64% of those enterprises operated by persons previously in farming were found to be run in conjunction with farming, and 30% of them with one or more other small enterprise activities. Of those where enterprise activity is the principal one, 56% also farm and 65% have other activities in addition to the forest-based one (Fisseha and Milimo 1986). This close integration with other household activities makes it very difficult to separate out income from the forest-based activity, and even more difficult to define how it contributes to rural household livelihoods. Few if any studies focus on how forest-based income is spent, nor on who spends it.

Income earning activities based on marketable forest products may be seasonal or year-round, or may be occasional when supplementary cash income is needed. The role of these forest-based activities varies depending on the availability and profitability of alternative employment (especially agricultural tasks), the seasonal availability of the forest products ("e.g"., fruiting seasons), the need for cash income ("e.g"., for school fees), access to the forest resource ("e.g"., restricted hunting regulations), the composition and condition of the forest resource, and access to markets (Falconer and Arnold 1989, Beer and McDermott 1989).

For some, the forest-based activity may be the sole or principal source of income. Rubber tappers in the Brazilian Amazon provide an example where this was until recently the case with a gathering activity. Sale of forest produce is also the principal source of income in many hunting communities. The larger and more profitable processing activities, such as wood working, and trading activities can also become the dominant household activity.

More widely, forest-based activities are engaged in part-time by farm households which cannot raise enough to be food self-sufficient year-round. A study of a lowland village in the Philippines found that 73% of the households could not generate enough food or cash income from agriculture to meet their basic needs. All village households collected forest products for supplementary and emergency income; with more than half depending on rattan collection and timber wage-labor as a primary source of livelihood (table 7). The average earnings from rattan collection was greater than the average wage for agriculture or timber production labor (Siebert and Belsky 1985).

Table 7. Forest product activity by household rice self-sufficiency [note a] in a Filipino village (percent of households).

Forest Product Activity [note b]

Use by household rice self-sufficiency status [note c] Low (n-14) Middle (n-27) High (n-22) Total (n-63)

Rattan gathering			
57	37	9	32
Employment as timber	laborer		
43	33	36	37
Either rattan or timb	per		
79	48	41	52

[Note a. Household rice self-sufficiency refers to the ability of a household to meet its rice consumption demands through rice farming (whether irrigated or rainfed, or as owner-cultivators and sharecroppers).]

[Note b. At lease one adult household member (15 years and older) gathers rattan on a weekly basis or accepts work as a timber wage laborer whenever work is available.]

In Sierra Leone, many people in villages near roads leading to towns were found to sell gather and fuelwood part-time in order to supplement their household income (Kamara 1986). On average more than half of the fuelwood collected by the household was sold, with the cash income earned playing an important role in the agricultural cycle. Fuelwood selling provided the first cash income from land cleared for rice production; subsequently fuelwood collection for the market was concentrated during the off-peak agriculture period, providing cash income in a period when food supplies are generally at their lowest.

There are several dimensions to the seasonality of forest-based income generating activities. Some activities are seasonal largely because the crop or material can only be gathered at certain times of year. The seasonality of others is directed by the seasonality of other activities ("e.g.", agricultural production), or seasonally induced cash needs ("i.e.", school fees), or seasonal demand, linked to availability of rural household cash income.

The collection and processing of babacu palm kernels is an example of an activity geared to the seasonal slack period in agriculture, which is also the period of most severe cash needs. Income from sale of kernels was found to account for 39% of cash income and 34% of total household income during this season (May 1985). Many of the poorer farmers were dependent on this cash for purchasing seed and other inputs for the new season's planting.

Although fuelwood is collected year round, there are often seasonal peaks to its collection. In rural Sierra Leone, Kamara (1986) found that the seasonality of fuelwood collection was closely related to the fluctuations in labor requirements for agricultural production. A study in the Philippines found that the majority of fuelwood sellers sold wood for less than three months in the year -- partly due to the demands on labor for other activities in other seasons and partly because of transportation difficulties during the rainy season (Hyman 1983).

Small manufacturing enterprises that produce for rural consumers are exposed to the additional seasonal constraint that incomes, being agriculture-based, have a short peak during which demand may exceed their capacity to supply. The resulting supply gap can provide an opportunity for external suppliers. It also forces small enterprises to invest in capacity that remains idle much of the year. Lack of working capital prevents small-scale enterprises from stocking adequate productive inputs to even out seasonal fluctuations in their markets. Their practice of producing on a one-off basis in response to individual orders also hinders them in coping with a seasonal flush of demand that would require organized batch or flowline production (Arnold "et al." 1987).

The third role of forest-based activities, as a source of income that people can fall back on in times of crop failure or shortfall, or in order to cope with some other form of emergency, can be very important. Many accounts recount how more people engage in the gathering and selling, or processing, of whatever forest product is traded locally during difficult times. In Ghana, for example, it has been reported that "the greatest function that forests serve to those living near them is a buffer: both environmentally and economically. They provide products and opportunities for income earning at times when other options fail" (Falconer 1991).

Dependence of the Poor and Women on Forest-based Income

The characteristics of forest resources, and of many of the commercial activities based on them, render them accessible to and appropriate for the poor. While forest gathering activities are not restricted to the latter, they do tend to rely on these activities for meeting a greater share of their basic needs. Forest resources have traditionally had unrestricted access, and poorer people have thus been able to exploit forests for marketable products. Similarly, most small-scale forest-based enterprises appear to be relatively accessible to the poor, requiring little in the way of capital or skills to enter.

Numerous studies of different communities and situations confirm this greater degree of involvement and dependence by the poor. The information in table 7 from the study in the Philippines demonstrates how employment in rattan collection and logging increases as the household's rice self-sufficiency

declines (Siebert and Belsky 1985). Similarly, Kamara (1986) found in Sierra Leone that the fuelwood trade is dominated by poorer households.

However, the poor are not always able to exploit the opportunities available from forest-based activities. In a study in an area of Orissa (India) where production and trade in forest products formed an important part of rural livelihood strategies, it was found that the wealthier categories of household collected and sold larger quantities of most products, because they could spend more time on collecting. The disadvantage of shortage of labor suffered by the poorer households was often compounded by restrictions on their access to the resource. Use of trees on village common land was monopolized by the rich and powerful, forcing the poor to collect from further afield (Fernandes "et al." 1988). Declining access by collectors due to deforestation and changes in land ownership and control has been reported from many countries.

Many authors have also noted that poor gatherers are often exploited by middlemen who control access to the market, or by those who control access to the resource. This is particularly a problem with extractive commodities where collectors depend on intermediaries both for access to markets and for supplies of goods. In the worst cases, such as the rubber tappers in the Brazilian Amazon, concessionaires traditionally took advantage of the virtual monopsony created by their control of the rubber stands to keep the collectors in a state approaching debt bondage (May 1992, Richards 1993). Even in less exploitative situations, collectors have little if any bargaining power in their transactions with merchants and traders, or with private owners and managers or public officials who control access to the resource.

However, the widely voiced criticism of intermediaries in many of these situations needs to be tempered by recognition of the difficulties, costs, and risks associated with trade in often seasonal and perishable products, production of which is widely dispersed across rural areas with limited transport infrastructure, with little if any access to storage or credit facilities, and serving poor markets in which large numbers of people are seeking to derive a living from the trade. Such market systems may be inefficient and unstable, with sharply fluctuating prices, but they are not necessarily exploitative—in the sense of intermediaries capturing an exorbitant share of the profit (Padoch 1988, 1990).

Nevertheless, prices to collectors are often a small fraction of the market value. Combined with unstable markets, this means that some forest product activities provide no more than marginal and uncertain returns to the producer. More than half of the persons engaged in the craft activities reported on in table 2 were in activities such as mat and basketmaking that provided returns to their labor equivalent to only about a third of the minimum wage rate (Havnevick 1980). Thus, while these forest-based activities provide some means of existence to the poorest, they may not provide any means for future investment (either in forest gathering or agriculture), or for improving their quality of life.

The characteristics of easy access to the resource and low entry thresholds that enable heavy participation in forest-based activities by the poor, mean that many women also depend on forest gathering activities for income generation. In addition, women traditionally use forest products to meet some of their household's basic needs ("e.g.", fuelwood, medicines, and foods). Thus gathering of forest products for the market can be accomplished in conjunction with other collecting activities. Also, forest product processing may often be performed at or near home, again allowing women to combine these income earning activities with other household chores ("i.e.", child care). Since women are generally responsible for feeding and clothing the family they tend to rely more frequently than men on forest-based activities for the generation of income (Falconer and Arnold 1989).

As is shown in table 3, the proportion of women in total employment in forest-based enterprises is high--both as owners and employed. However, their involvement is concentrated in particular activities. Women tend to be more involved in gathering and trading, while men dominate many processing activities. Within processing, women usually dominate labor intensive cottage industry activities such as mat and basketmaking. In addition, they commonly are involved with vending forest processed products. Women also market great quantities of processed foods which may be based on forest foods ("i.e.", traditional beers made from forest fruits). The fuelwood trade is also often dominated by women; the majority of fuelwood collectors and sellers being women in many situations, though men tend to take over as the fuelwood trade becomes more complex.

Their dependence on the more labor intensive low-return household-based activities means that women tend to be concentrated in the enterprise areas that are most exposed to shifts in markets, prices, or costs. They are therefore likely to be adversely affected by some of the changes that occur over time, as is discussed in the next section.

SMALL ENTERPRISES, GROWTH AND CHANGE

The rapid rise in nonfarm enterprise activity that has been recorded across all developing regions can reflect two quite different underlying developments. In regions where rural incomes are growing rapidly, consumption diversifies into more nonfood items, many of which will be produced in the rural areas. The growth in small enterprise activity in this case is likely to be accompanied by sharp changes in its structure; moving away as wages rise from low return activities and into higher return activities such as services. With improvements in rural infrastructure and incomes, manufacturing tends to become more concentrated in somewhat larger workshop scale enterprises located mainly in rural settlements and towns. Growth in nonfarm activity in economically stagnant regions, on the other hand, comes about as labor that cannot find

employment in agriculture moves into the nonfarm economy, being absorbed principally in labor-intensive low-return microenterprise activities (Haggblade and Hazell 1989, Haggblade and Liedholm 1990).

Small enterprise activities can be expected to occur where there are dispersed raw materials, small markets or high transport costs; where there are no diseconomies of small-scale, or of labor-intensive production processes. One of the reasons for the concentration of small-scale activities in the forest-based sector is evidently the relatively remote, often dispersed, occurrence of forest and tree resources across rural areas. Another is that these resources can provide the basis for production of a range of low cost products that enter widely into the consumption patterns of low income rural households—foods and medicines, fuel, building and packaging materials, household and agricultural furniture and implements, "etc."

Change in the situation of small enterprises is likely to be related to changes in these underlying factors. Some of the products used in poor households are inferior goods, consumption of which will decline as incomes rise. The markets for other products will be invaded as improved rural transport infrastructure reduces the costs of entry by cheaper or better products—though others could increase their market share as transport costs fall. Some of the production and processing activities provide very low returns to the labor employed and will be abandoned as more productive (or less arduous) employment opportunities emerge, and as rising labor costs—or rising raw material costs—erode their competitive advantage (Godoy "et al." 1991).

In the section that follows, we look at the evidence that could shed some light on the question of which types of activity are likely to prove sustainable and grow, and which are not. In doing so it will again be appropriate to separate gathering from processing activities, and within gathering to consider extractive activities serving external markets separately from those producing for local markets.

Processing Activities

The information about rates of growth in small enterprise activity is very limited. The aggregate figures from a few countries that are reproduced in table 8 show rapid growth, with forest-based activities generally growing at least as fast as small-scale manufacturing as a whole. However, broader studies indicate that there is great variability within totals (Liedholm and Mead 1992).

Table 8. Average annual growth rate in employment in small enterprises in selected countries in Africa (percent).

Wood & wood processing All manufacturing All enterprises	Botswana 27.6 11.9 11.4	Kenya 27.6 26.3 21.2	Lesotho 5.6 4.0 5.9
Wood & wood processing All manufacturing All enterprises	South Africa 43.3 21.1 23.9	Swaziland 5.4 5.6 6.6	Zimbabwe 4.0 5.6 7.4

Source: based on Liedholm and Mead 1992.

Of the two most frequently occurring types of forest-based enterprise, the limited evidence available indicates that those based on wood grow faster than those based on canes, reeds, grasses, "etc." The one-person mat and basket making activities that in most countries account for the largest share of the forest-based total, in terms of numbers of enterprises and persons engaged, are low-return activities, exposed to severe local competition because of their low skill and capital entry thresholds. They therefore tend to be abandoned as wages rise and alternative opportunities grow. They are also very vulnerable to outside competition from factory made alternatives, as these become more readily and cheaply available with improving road infrastructure. A study in Indonesia, for example, found that homemade bamboo umbrellas and wooden clogs were rapidly displaced by massproduced products using metal and synthetic materials once these became available in rural markets (Hadi 1992).

The greater level of both skill and capital needed for successful entry into woodworking activities such as carpentry and furniture making help explain their greater resilience and viability. The study in Rufiji (Tanzania) reported on in table 2 found that returns to labor in these activities were roughly five times greater than in mat and basket making (Havnevick 1980). Data from other countries also show positive returns in small woodworking enterprises (Liedholm and Mead 1987).

Wood-based enterprises are also often exposed to increasing competition, both locally and from formal sector urban producers. However, there are several strategies that such enterprises can pursue in order to respond to changing supply and market conditions. They can improve technology, efficiency and scale of operation by adding better tools and eventually machines. They can concentrate on market niches in which factory products are not competitive, such as very low cost basic furniture items below the price range of the latter or high quality hand carved pieces. Alternatively, they can focus on products in which there is no competitive advantage from large-scale machine production, such as high value handicrafts. Another approach is to specialize in a particular product or process in order to get the advantages of longer production runs. Or they may use the improved road infrastructure to themselves penetrate other markets, in order to increase turnover (FAO 1987).

An example of development based both on selecting market niches above and below those occupied by factory made products, and of specialization, is provided by the small-scale furniture industry in Egypt. Even the manufacture of items such as chairs is distributed between different units specializing either in particular parts such as legs or seats, or in different stages in the production process, such as primary processing, assembling or finishing (Mead 1982). In north Thailand, small village-based entrepreneurs have taken advantage of the improved roads in their region to jointly truck the furniture they produce to towns or busy roadsides where they assemble and finish it for sale. In this way they compete effectively with furniture from large urban producers and have expanded their markets (Boomgard 1983).

The decline in labor-intensive one-person activities as rural economies prosper is of concern for the erosion of income earning opportunities that it implies for the very poor, and in particular for women. Women widely rely on their income to ensure the household's food and welfare situation. Though they often capture a large share of some expanding areas, such as food processing, and the trade and vending of some products, they tend to be displaced from higher value forest products processing activities. As the lac-turnery cottage industry in India, for example, shifted increasingly from hand lathes to machine lathes women found it difficult to get access to the necessary training and have been progressively displaced and marginalized (Campbell 1991).

Gathering and Trading Activities Within the Local Economy

The commercialization of gathered forest products is affected principally by the growth in urban markets. Products that were not previously sold in rural areas, such as fuelwood, acquire commercial value as urban demand emerges, and commercial products are traded in rapidly growing quantities. As was noted earlier, this creates growing part-time income earning opportunities for rural collectors and hunters, and the emergence of employment, often on a considerable scale, in trade and vending.

Changes in the value of particular products have altered the way they are used. Commercialization of some products is accompanied by a decline in rural subsistence use of forest products, and the diversion of supplies of saleable products from use by the collecting household to the market. Fruits, meats and fuelwood feature widely in accounts of such diversion; for example, rising urban demand and prices for bushmeat in west Africa have led to overexploitation, and to people in rural areas reducing their consumption just to what they cannot sell (Falconer 1990).

Growth in forest-based product trade also alters relationships and rights. As pressures on a resource rise, traditional rights of use tend to become circumscribed or removed. Some of the longer established trades, that were earlier based on barter and credit-based personal ties of mutual obligation,

are increasingly based on short-term competitively established relationships of expediency (Beer and McDermott 1989). As quantities, and values, grow, urban traders and wholesalers tend to exercise closer control over their supplies by hiring people to collect on their behalf rather than buying from local gatherers. Changes are also discernible in the balance between gender roles. As trade in fuel-wood, which was traditionally controlled by women in many situations, expands and becomes more complex it tends to be taken over by men. Thus, though the growing intrusion of organized trading systems into the rural areas as the value of forest products rises may create additional rural employment and income, it can also divert control and access from those who earlier benefitted from the production and trade of these products.

The strong growth in urban demand for forest products is largely based on products that formed part of rural use patterns, and which continue to be consumed as people move to the towns -- despite the existence of urban alternatives that might be considered to be cheaper or more convenient. In southern Ghana, for instance, although the modern substitute of toothbrush and toothpaste is available every-where, 95% of the population use chewsticks; and comparison with an earlier study suggests that there has been little change over the past 15 years (Falconer 1991). Although market demand for such products thus seems well established, there must be a question mark as to how long they will maintain their position. The experience of fast growing economies of countries in eastern Asia suggests that urban consumption of some traditional forest products can decline rapidly as consumer preferences change with substantial increases in income, and as rising wages encourage rural people to move out of relatively laborintensive low-return activities.

Extraction and Trade in Industrial Products

In contrast to the major products traded and consumed domestically, which generally face expanding markets, most forest products gathered for sale for industrial use face very uncertain market prospects. The history of extractive products records that, once a product achieves commercial importance, industry seeks to bring production and production costs under control by replacing supplies from wild sources by plantation sources or synthetics. The greater the success of a product the more likely this is to happen. The market for the forest-based product then collapses. This boom-and-bust sequence may provide significant employment and income initially, but in the longer term is likely to be extremely disruptive for rural economies, encouraging people to move away from more diversified and less risky agriculture-based livelihoods (Beer and McDermott 1989, Richards 1993).

Oil palm and rubber are but two of the many forest products that have been largely displaced by production from cultivated sources. The babacu oil industry, once the largest oilseed industry in the world based on harvest from a wild plant, has declined rapidly since the mid-1980s due to substitution by

synthetic detergents and less fatty edible oils (Richards 1993). Synthetics have also replaced or greatly reduced the market for a long list of other extractive products of the forest that at one time figured prominently among the products of one or other of the tropical forest zones.

Extractive supply systems are also threatened by inelasticities of supply inherent in them. When, in the 1970s, demand for babacu oilseed was growing rapidly, expansion in production was constrained by the farmers' need to give priority to their rice crop; labor for nut extraction becoming available only when weeding of rice had been completed. Supply therefore proved inelastic in the periods of growth in demand, causing processors to shift from manual to industrial processing. This led to men displacing women as the main income earners from babacu (May 1992, Richards 1993).

The production of extractives in the Amazon basin has been further disrupted by developments accompanying the building of roads through the area. With improved links between the producer and market areas, trade in extractives became less dependent on networks of gatherers and intermediaries. More fundamentally, the enhanced land values in areas opened up by roads lessened landowners' interest in extractive income, in favor of other land uses, so that gatherers were widely deprived of access and had earlier usufruct rights withdrawn. Increased commercialization and access to markets also expanded the range of options open to gatherers. Agriculture became more attractive, and job opportunities in towns led to large scale migration from the rural areas. The numbers engaged in extractive activities in the Brazilian Amazon have been steadily declining, as people reduce their dependence on low-margin activities and products facing unstable markets, and a way of life that was "often poorly remunerated, lonely and isolated" (Richards 1993).

The evolution of production and trade in rattan in Kalimantan shares some of these characteristics, but in a number of respects is proving more robust. Collection is just one of the activities practiced by producers, being usually combined with agriculture. Collector-trader relationships were less exploitative than in the Amazon. Access to land and the resource was based on established local rights rather than landlord-tenant relationships. Rattan lends itself to smallholder cultivation and was widely being raised in individual rattan gardens as well as being harvested from the wild resource. The output, in addition to being sold to industry and exported, provides the raw material for a substantial household-based small enterprise activity in the manufacture of rattan carpets and other products (Weinstock 1983, Peluso 1986).

Nevertheless, the system has recently come under severe pressure. As demand for other gathered forest products declined in face of competition from synthetics, collectors became increasingly dependent on sale of rattan--demand for which has been growing rapidly. With growing demand for rattan, and the opening up of the forests in order to exploit timber, short-term traders entered the market, raising prices to producers and stimulating increased harvesting. The

construction of industrial processing plants in Kalimantan has raised output to levels that observers consider are unlikely to be sustainable (Peluso 1992).

RESOURCE AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Impact of Resource Depletion on Small Enterprises

The overcutting of rattan stocks reflects one of the most widespread problems facing small forest-based enterprises. Nearly everywhere users of forest products are faced with a decline in the size of the resource from which they obtain their supplies. Shortages of raw materials are exacerbated for small enterprises by their lack of working capital, which prevents them holding stocks. Nor are they usually able to invest in the resource itself. Their small size and simple technical base similarly often makes it difficult for them to substitute other materials when their traditional inputs become hard to obtain.

The principal causes of raw material shortages are usually connected with developments other than harvesting by or for the small enterprise activities. Timber harvesting in the forest is likely to damage or destroy other components of the forest that provide products for small enterprises. Clearance of land for agriculture and pasture reduces the extent of the resource, distances users from remaining supplies, and is likely to result in more intensive use of what remains.

The opening up of forest areas is likely to precipitate other changes that make inroads on the resource. As logging roads were built in Kalimantan, alternative employment opportunities emerged, reducing interest in rattan collection (Peluso 1992). The same happened in the Amazon, where the road infrastructure also dramatically enhanced the value of agricultural and pasture uses of forest land, undermining many extractive forest product activities—but stimulating those such as babacu oil—seed production that could be operated on an industrial scale.

However, opening up of forest cover can also lead to changes in the plant and animal populations in the area that increase the supply of some products. For example, populations of grasscutter, the rodent that forms a large part of the supply of bushmeat in west Africa, is found only under open cover; it does not occur in the closed forest (Davies and Richards 1991).

Increasing pressures on the resource are also related to another widespread change--restrictions or removal of users' access and rights to harvest. The greater part of the raw material supplies that small forest-based enterprises use comes from land that they do not control--privately owned land or land controlled by private concessionaires, state land managed by forest services or other government departments, or common pool land operated under collective control or without any form of control at all (open access). They are therefore very vulnerable to changes in land use. Loss of use rights as land owners shifted to other land uses, and withdrew rights of access from the tappers and collectors, has been a major factor in undermining rubber tapping and babacu kernel collection in the Amazon. Lack of security of access to future forest product harvests influences household decisions in favor of the short term results to be obtained from shifting cultivation rather than extractive activities (Pinez-Vasquez "et al." 1990).

The commercialization of those of their outputs that were previously collected for own use puts pressure on collective management systems and encourages their privatization. Land reform in India has transferred from communal control to private ownership, and thereby from forest product to agricultural use, a very large part of the village lands on which the poor depended for much of their income, and for fuelwood and other subsistence biomass products (Jodha 1990). The example from Orissa cited earlier (Fernandes "et al." 1988) is but one of many where, even when the resource remains in the public domain, as its value rises access to the harvest is effectively captured for the benefit of just the wealthier and more powerful within the community.

There are also numerous instances where use or harvesting rights to particular products on private land--for example fuelwood and postharvest grazing--are withdrawn once those products acquire significant market value (Jodha 1990, Falconer 1990, Beer and McDermott 1989). Though villages in Kalimantan still retain rights to rattan and other forest products on adjacent lands, in practice they are now often unable to exercise these rights in the face of gangs of collectors retained to procure supplies for the rattan processing factories, or uncooperative logging companies with rights to harvest timber on the same area (Peluso 1992).

Impacts of Harvesting by Small Enterprises

Some small enterprise activities can be as destructive of forest resources as other forms of deforestation--notably fuelwood harvesting and charcoal production. Numerous instances have been documented of regions close to large urban centers that have been denuded of tree cover to supply wood fuel markets. The impact of most small enterprise activities though is more selective, with the impact varying widely with

the type of product, harvesting, and parent resource. The felling of whole trees of "Garcinia epunctata" and "G. afzelia" that provide the logs from which the chewsticks of Ghana are produced is likely to have a quite different impact on the sustainability of the resource than the harvest of canes and rattans, which can regenerate readily and regrow in a few years, or the harvesting of the leaves from the species in the Marantaceae family that are widely used in Ghana for food wrapping—a product that can be harvested repeatedly from the plant without destroying it (Falconer 1991). However, rapidly growing demand can result in unsustainable harvesting of even the most readily regenerated resources.

The impact of harvesting will also vary with the frequency of occurrence, and distribution, of the resource species. The "acai" palm (edible fruits and palm hearts), which is the forest product with the largest market value at present in the Amazon, is largely confined to the limited area of floodplain forests in the river basin—as are several other of the economically sought after Amazon species (Anderson and Ioris 1992). The concentration of research studies in such rich areas ("e.g.", Peters "et al." 1989) can therefore give the impression that the occurrence and concentration of forest products of commercial value is much greater than it is (Richards 1993).

The selective reduction or removal of particular species by product harvesting can also have knock-on effects on the forest that could affect its economic and ecological value. The increase in hunting of forest animals as markets for bushmeat (and other animal products) have grown, has been concentrated on the larger animals. A recent study has pointed out that many of these play important roles in seed dispersion, herbivory and predation—and that their removal can have striking effects on the ecology of the forest (Redford 1991).

The Shift in Tree Resources from Forest to Farm

In addition to the domestication as plantation crops of a number of species of considerable economic importance, such as rubber and oil palm, there has been growing domestication of a wide range of forest species at the farm level. As public lands diminish, and the natural resources on them recede or are degraded, or are withdrawn from use by outsiders, farmers have shifted to managing trees on their own land. They have done so by protecting, planting, and managing trees of selected species of importance to them (Arnold and Dewees forthcoming).

Recent studies in West Africa have found that the bulk of forest products gathered are in fact collected from fallow and farm bush and other forms of tree cover that are managed to encourage desired species (Davies and Richards 1991, Falconer 1991). The babacu palm in northeast Brazil has long been integrated into local farmers' shifting cultivation system (May "et al." 1985), and farmers in the floodplain forests of

the Amazon area manage them to favor the economically more valuable species they contain (Anderson and Ioris 1992). Planted fruit trees appear everywhere at a very early stage in agricultural settlement, and as natural tree stocks diminish the amount and range of planting generally increases. Though the main impetus for this domestication is to meet household needs, it can include species intended for nonfarm enterprise activities. The expansion of household level cultivation in Kalimantan of rattan, first as rattan gardens incorporated into shifting cultivation systems, and then as a smallholder crop, illustrates the impact that commercialization can have on encouraging production of products that are suitable for cultivation at this scale and level (Godoy and Feaw 1991, Peluso 1991).

POLICY ISSUES

Small enterprises in general have to operate within a policy environment that is oriented towards large modern sector industry. Thus, small enterprises often face subsidized credit allocation regulations and tax concessions aimed at firms above a particular size. Even where such overt restrictions do not occur, licensing and other burdensome bureaucratic procedures tend to exclude them from access to available incentives or assistance (Liedholm and Mead 1987). A widespread issue is therefore to achieve a more neutral policy environment, in order to remove inadvertent bias against the small enterprise sector.

Within the forest products sector, measures favoring formal sector firms could bias competition against small enterprises producing comparable products. The Indonesian ban on rattan exports, for example, encouraged investment in factories to produce a product, rattan carpets, already produced widely at a cottage industry level. Although this was very successful in raising domestic production, and created considerable employment, it also caused prices of rattan raw material to fall, affecting returns to gathering and trading enterprises, and to smallholder growers of rattan.

Within the small forest-based enterprise sector, entrepreneurs themselves most commonly cite finance as the principal problem they encounter in maintaining their competitive position, with raw material shortages being mentioned most often as the second most important (table 9). Finance, however, while a real problem in its own right, is also often a symptom of other difficulties which can include insecure and intermittent markets and raw material supplies, lack of suitable tools and skills with which to improve productivity, managerial weaknesses, and inability to make effective use of available support services (FAO 1987).

Table 9. Ranking of entrepreneur perceptions of main problems facing small forest-based manufacturing enterprises.

Problem area		Ranking	of problem	1
	Jamaica	Zambia	Egypt	Sierra Leone
Finance	1	3		1
Raw material	2	2	1	2
Demand/market	3	4	2	3
Others		1	3	

Source: based on Fisseha 1987.

Of these factors, market prospects and ability to achieve low production costs are likely to be the most important. Smallscale forest-based processing activities are therefore likely to benefit from interventions that focus on these factors. Within the forest-based aggregate, support activities need to differentiate between the micro household units, many of which use nonwood raw materials, and the somewhat larger and more technologically advanced group of woodworking enterprises operating at a workshop level. While the latter may be able to benefit from certain existing support services the former will usually not be able to and will require other modes of assistance. In addition, enterprises that are in the process of moving up from the household to the workshop scale are also likely to require special attention, as they may be unable to use effectively the support appropriate for either the micro or the workshop-scale units.

The greater part of the support needed is likely to be best provided by existing organizations that assist small rural enterprises in general, rather than by setting up special extension entities for those enterprises producing forest products. Extension services usually already exist to help small enterprises improve their access to formal sources of finance, to provide market and product information, and to train entrepreneurs and their employees in technical and management skills. However, the micro units that figure so prominently in the forest-based aggregate are unlikely to be able to make use of these services unless they are grouped together, and will probably need help in doing so (FAO 1987).

Initiatives focused more narrowly on forest-based enterprises may be required in order to alleviate their raw material problems. These are often worsened by unfavorable forest policies and policy enforcement practices—which can include unfavorable harvesting controls favoring timber production, exclusive allocation of timber to large users, complicated licensing or auctioning procedures, plus demands for heavy deposits or other insurmountable preconditions, high prices due to state monopolies, and monopoly distribution systems. In a survey among furniture makers in northeast Thailand, for example, problems with forestry regulations were cited by nearly half the enterprises as the main negative factor affecting their operations (Boomgard 1983).

Some of these distortions reflect the pressures on forest services to produce revenue from forest products disposal; this is more easily achieved from a small number of large enterprises than from many small ones. Similarly, many users of the forest are more difficult and costly to control and service, raising difficult issues of how to ensure conservation of the resource and environmental stability.

Perhaps the main factor eroding both small enterprise access to raw materials and consequent overexploitation and resource degradation is the progressive weakening and breakdown of indigenous control and management systems. Collapse of local collective control, erosion of rights of access and usage, and privatization of previously common pool resources are among the developments that have had adverse consequences of this nature. Underlying them are an array of powerful economic and political forces that are difficult to reverse or arrest--as has been evident from opposition to moves to provide legal enforcement of collectors' use rights in extractive reserves in the Brazilian Amazon. The case for strengthening user rights is likely to be strongest where the economic case is also strong; securing their access to the resource may not be of much benefit to producers if this still leaves them facing unstable markets and uncertain returns.

The decline in availability of forest resources in the public sector is focusing increasing attention on the creation of tree resources in the farm sector. Policy related issues affecting the development of farm tree products that could supply small enterprises include the impediments caused by regulations that impede private production and sale of wood, and pricing policies that subsidize competing supplies from state forests.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

In the more heavily forested areas within the developing world, collection, processing and trade of forest products are usually the main source of nonfarm income, with much of the rural population depending upon it to some extent. In all developing countries, even those with little in the way of forest resources, small forest-based enterprise activities form one of the largest sources of rural nonfarm employment. Most such activity constitutes just one of several activities carried out by the household, part of a diversified livelihood system that enables them to adjust to seasonal or intermittent fluctuations in agricultural income.

Employment in forest-based activities is often growing rapidly. In considering how it is likely to evolve in the future, and what interventions might be needed, it is important to be able to distinguish between those activities that have the potential for sustainable and viable development when exposed to the pressures of growth and change, and those that are unlikely to be able to do so. In pursuing this aim it is useful to distinguish three different basic situations within which small enterprise activities are prominent:

- * in economies where population is growing faster than per capita incomes, growth in nonfarm employment reflects its function as a sponge; absorbing people unable to obtain employment, or sufficient employment, in agriculture in laborintensive low-return, typically household-based activities such as collecting and mat making;
- * in situations where per capita incomes are rising, small enterprise growth is likely to be in activities to meet growing and diversifying rural demands, and in higher-return activities such as vending, trading and other service roles; this is likely to be accompanied by a reduction in the share of low return activities; and
- * overlapping with the other two, forest-based activities often play an important buffer role during the process of growth and change; providing a source of income on which rural people can fall back during periods when crop failure, poor markets or prices, or other setbacks, adversely affect their livelihood system.

These different situations evidently have different potentials, and limitations, and call for different responses. Many of the low-return activities typical of the first situation defined above offer no more than a marginal, fragile livelihood, and seldom provide a base for sustained improvement. They are commonly available to the poor because they are in isolated regions or because their extraction and processing is difficult and/or unpleasant. Support to such activities once higher return or less arduous alternatives emerge could impede the emergence of better livelihood systems for the participants.

On the other hand, in the situations where they are found in large numbers they can still be hugely important, in particular to women. Providing support to such activities in situations where they are still the best, or only, alternative faces the particular difficulties of helping microenterprises. It is also activities at this level that are most threatened by broader shifts in use of land and land-based resources, and by the political and institutional changes that reduce people's access to resources or markets and that are likely to require interventions at the policy rather than sectoral level. The reasons for doing so may be more humanitarian and strategic than economic (Hecht 1992).

As rural nonfarm economies develop away from this basic situation, other issues arise that can have consequences for intervention strategies. In the first stages of expansion beyond household operation, small enterprises may fail because of the added overhead expenses of creating and maintaining a workshop infrastructure, and the loss of the implicit subsidy derived from operation within a household. Access to long-maturity finance may be crucial at this stage for those enterprises that have a potential to expand.

Another matter of concern is the reduction in income earning opportunities for women in small forest-based activities that seems to occur as development takes place. Not only do

activities that they dominate, such as mat making, decline in size and importance, and other women-dominated activities such as fuelwood selling get taken over by men as they become more commercialized, but women all too often have difficulty in getting access to employment in expanding more dynamic enterprise activities. Particular gender-focused interventions may be necessary to overcome this.

In examining experience to date, the small enterprise activities that have grown consistently tend to be those that

- (1) involve products that are staples of domestic demand, such as fuelwood, processed foods and furniture;
- (2) require certain skills or inputs, or involve flexible production processes that can be upgraded and expanded readily, or that do not suffer diseconomies of small-scale of operation; and/or
- (3) use raw materials that are widely available, or that regenerate readily and quickly, and/or that can be brought under local or household management.

However, while this may provide useful pointers to longer term potentials, it is clear that growth of activities that exhibit these characteristics will continue to be accompanied by a huge number of other, often more transitory or less robust, enterprise activities that emerge in response to needs and opportunities in particular situations and particular stages in the development process.

NOTES

1. This paper draws in part on an earlier study on small-scale forest-based industries carried out with Yacob Fisseha and Mafa Chipeta, and on a study on income and employment, forestry and food security with Julia Falconer. Both studies were supported by the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization. Research for the present paper has been carried out with the assistance of Ian Townson.

- Anderson, A. B., and E. M. Ioris. 1992. "The Logic of Extraction: Resource Management and Income Generation by Extractive Producers in the Amazon." In K. H. Redford and C. Padoch, eds., CONSERVATION OF NEOTROPICAL FORESTS. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Arnold, J.E.M., M. E. Chipeta, and Y. Fisseha. 1987. "The Importance of Small Forest-based Processing Enterprises in Developing Countries." UNASYLVA 39(3&4):8-16.
- Arnold, J.E.M., and P.A. Dewees, eds. (forthcoming). TREE MANAGEMENT IN FARMER STRATEGIES: RESPONSES TO AGRICULTURAL INTENSIFICATION. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.
- Beer, J. de, and M. Mcdermott. 1989. "The Economic Value of Non-timber Forest Products in Southeast Asia." Netherlands Committee for International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN), Amsterdam, Netherlands.
- Boomgard, J. J. 1983. "The Economics of Small-scale Furniture Production and Distribution in Thailand." Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University, Department of Agricultural Economics, East Lansing, Michigan.
- Browder, J. O. 1989. "Social and Economic Constraints on the Development of Market-oriented Extractive Systems in Amazon Forests." Paper presented at the Symposium on Extractive Economies in Tropical Forests: A Course of Action. National Wildlife Federation, November 30 December 1, Washington, D.C.
- ----. 1992. "The Limits of Extractivism: Tropical Forest Strategies Beyond Extractive Reserves." BIOSCIENCE 42(3):174-82
- Campbell, J. Y., ed. 1991. WOMEN'S ROLE IN DYNAMIC FOREST-BASED SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES: CASE STUDIES ON UPPAGE AND LACQUERWARE FROM INDIA. Community Forestry Case Study 3. Rome, Italy: Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) of the United Nations.
- Davies, A. G., and P. Richards. 1991. "Rain Forest in Mende Life: Resources and Subsistence Strategies in Rural Communities Around the Gola North Forest Reserve (Sierra Leone)." A report to Economic and Social Committee for Overseas Research, Overseas Development Administration, University College, London.
- Falconer, J. 1990. "The Major Significance of 'Minor' Forest Products: The Local Use and Value of Forests in the West African Humid Forest Zone." Community Forestry Note 6, Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- ----. 1991. "People's Uses and Trade in Nontimber Forest Products in Southern Ghana: A Pilot Study." Working Paper,

- draft. Prepared for the Ghana Forestry Department and the Overseas Development Agency (ODA) Forest Resources Management Project, Ghana.
- Falconer, J., and J.E.M. Arnold. 1989. "Household Food Security and Forestry: An Analysis of Socioeconomic Issues." Community Forestry Note 1, Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations. 1987. SMALL-SCALE FOREST-BASED PROCESSING ENTERPRISES. Forestry Paper 79, Rome, Italy.
- Fernandes, W., G. Menon, and P. Viegas. 1988. FORESTS, ENVIRONMENT AND TRIBAL ECONOMY: DEFORESTATION, IMPOVERISHMENT AND MARGINALISATION IN ORISSA. Tribes of India series. New Delhi, India: Indian Social Institute.
- Fisseha, Y. 1987. "Basic Features of Rural Small-scale Forest-based Processing Enterprises in Developing Countries." In SMALL-SCALE FOREST-BASED PROCESSING ENTERPRISES, Forestry Paper 79, Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- Fisseha, Y., and J. Milimo. 1986. RURAL SMALL-SCALE FOREST-BASED PROCESSING ENTERPRISES IN ZAMBIA: REPORT OF A 1985 PILOT SURVEY. FO:MISC/86/15, Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- Godoy, R., N. L. V. Brokaw, and D. Wilkie. 1992. "The Effects of Economic Development on the Extraction of Non-timber Tropical Forest Products: Hypotheses, Methods, and Information Requirements." Draft. Harvard Institute for International Development, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Godoy, R., and T. C. Feaw. n.d. Agriculture Diversification Among Smallholder Rattan Cultivators in Central Kalimantan, Indonesia. AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 13:27-40.
- Hadi, S. 1991. "Forest-based Handicrafts in Indonesia." In J. Y. Campbell, ed., CASE STUDIES IN FOREST-BASED SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES IN ASIA: RATTAN, MATCHMAKING AND HANDICRAFTS. Community Forestry Case Study 4. Bangkok, Thailand: Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations.
- Haggblade, S., and P. Hazell. 1989. "Agricultural Technology and Farm-nonfarm Linkages." AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS 3:345-64.
- Haggblade, S., and C. Liedholm. 1991. AGRICULTURE, RURAL LABOR MARKETS, AND EVOLUTION OF THE RURAL NONFARM ECONOMY. Working Paper 19. Growth and Equity through Microenterprise Investment and Institutions (GEMINI), Bethesda, Maryland.
- Havnevick, K. 1980. ANALYSIS OF RURAL PRODUCTION AND INCOMES, RUFIJI DISTRICT, TANZANIA. Research Paper 3, Institute of Resource Assessment, University of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Development Research and Action Programme Publication No. 152, Chr. Michelsen Institute, Bergen, Norway.

- Hecht, S. B. 1992. "Valuing Land Uses in Amazonia: Colonist Agriculture, Cattle, and Petty Extraction in Comparative Perspective." In K. H. Redford and C. Padoch, eds., CONSERVATION OF NEOTROPICAL FORESTS. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Hyman, E. L. 1983. "Analysis of the Woodfuels Market: A Survey of Fuelwood Sellers and Charcoal Makers in the Province of Ilocos Norte." BIOMASS 3:167-97.
- Jha, L. K., and K. N. Jha. 1985. "Tassar Culture and Its Impact on Generation of Income and Employment." MYFOREST 21(4):289-94.
- Jodha, N. S. 1990. "Rural Common Property Resources: Contributions and Crisis." ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL WEEKLY, Quarterly Review of Agriculture, 25(26):A67-78.
- Kamara, J. N. 1986. FIREWOOD ENERGY IN SIERRA LEONE: PRODUCTION, MARKETING AND HOUSEHOLD USE PATTERNS. Studien Integrierten Landeichen Entwickeung 9. Hamburg, Germany: Verlag Weltarchiv.
- Kaye, V. 1987. "Etude sur les potentialit s de l'artisanat d'art en Cote d'Ivoire: Plan triennal de d veloppement de l'artisanat d'art, 1988-91." Sous Direction de l'Artisanat d'Art, Direction de Promotion de l'Artisanat. d'Art, Minist re du Tourisme, Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire.
- Kilby, P., and C. Liedholm. 1986. THE ROLE OF NONFARM ACTIVITIES IN THE RURAL ECONOMY. Employment and Enterprise Policy Analysis Discussion Paper 7. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard Institute for International Development.
- Liedholm, C., and D. C. Mead. 1987. SMALL-SCALE INDUSTRIES IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS. International Development Paper 9. East Lansing, Michigan: Michigan State University.
- ----. 1992. "The Structure and Growth of Microenterprises in Southern and Eastern Africa: Evidence from Recent Surveys." Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan.
- Marks, S., and R. Robbins. 1984. "People in Forestry in Zambia." Forestry Department, Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- May, P. H. 1992. "Common Property Resources in the Neotropics: Theory, Management Progress, and an Action Agenda." In K. H. Redford and C. Padoch, eds., CONSERVATION OF NEOTROPICAL FORESTS. New York: Columbia University Press.
- May, P. H., A. Anderson, M. Frazao, and M. Balick. 1985. "Babacu Palm in the Agroforestry Systems in Brazil's Mid-north Region." AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 3(39):275-95.
- Mead, D. 1982. "Small Industries in Egypt: An Exploration of the Economics of Small Furniture Producers." INT. J. MIDDLE EAST STUDIES 14:159-71.

- Padoch, C. 1988. "The Economic Importance and Marketing of Forest and Fallow Products in the Iquitos Region." In W. M. Denevan and C. Padoch, eds., SWIDDEN-FALLOW AGROFORESTRY IN THE PERUVIAN AMAZON Advances in Economic Botany, Vol. 5. New York: The New York Botanical Garden.
- ----. 1990. MARKETING OF NON-TIMBER FOREST PRODUCTS IN WESTERN AMAZONIA: GENERAL OBSERVATIONS AND RESEARCH PRIORITIES. New York: New York Botanical Garden.
- Page, J., and W. Steel. 1984. SMALL ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT: ECONOMIC ISSUES FROM AFRICAN EXPERIENCE. Technical Paper 26. Washington, D.C.: The World Bank.
- Peluso, N. L. 1986. "Rattan Industries in East Kalimantan, Indonesia." Draft. (A condensed version of this paper appears in J. Y. Campbell, ed., CASE STUDIES IN FOREST-BASED SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES IN ASIA: RATTAN, MATCHMAKING AND HANDICRAFTS. Community Forestry Case Study 4. Bangkok, Thailand: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.)
- ----. 1992. "The Political Ecology of Extraction and Extractive Reserves in East Kalimantan, Indonesia." DEVELOPMENT AND CHANGE 23(4):49-74.
- Peters, C. M., A. H. Gentry, and R. O. Mendelsohn. 1989. "Valuation of an Amazonian Rainforest." NATURE 339:656-57.
- Pinez-Vasquez, M., D. Zarin, and P. Jipp. 1990. "Land Use in the Amazon." NATURE 348:397.
- Poschen, P. 1987. "The Forestry-based Informal Sector in Developing Countries: An Assessment from ILO's Point of View." Workshop of experts on training in the urban informal sector of developing countries, Turin, Italy, April 7-11.
- Redford, K. H. 1991. "Hunting in Neotropical Forests: A Subsidy from Nature." Paper prepared for the Conference on nutrition in tropical forests, United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), Paris, September.
- Richards, M. 1993. "Commercialization of Non-timber Forest Products in Amazonia." Socio-economic Series 2, Natural Resources Institute (NRI), Chattam, United Kingdom.
- Schwartzmann, S., and M. Allegretti. 1987. EXTRACTIVE PRODUCTION IN THE AMAZON AND THE RUBBER TAPPERS' MOVEMENT. New York: Environmental Defence Fund.
- Siebert, S., and J. M. Belsky. 1985. "Forest Product Trade in a Lowland Filipino Village." ECONOMIC BOTANY 39(4):522-33.
- Tandon, J. C. 1991. "The Safety Match Industry in India." In J.Y. Campbell, ed., CASE STUDIES IN FOREST-BASED SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES IN ASIA: RATTAN, MATCHMAKING AND HANDICRAFTS. Community Forestry Case Study 4. Bangkok, Thailand: Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) of the

United Nations.

Tewari, D. N. 1982. "Minor Forest Products of India." Paper presented at the US Agency for International Development (USAID) Conference on Forestry and Development in Asia, Bangalore, India.

Weinstock, J. A. 1983. "Rattan: A Complement to Swidden Agriculture." ECONOMIC BOTANY 37(1):56-68.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Ву

Ian M. Townson

Oxford Forestry Institute, Department of Plant Sciences, University of Oxford, South Parks Road Oxford, OX1 3RB, UK. Tel: (0865) 275145 Fax: (0865) 275074

This bibliography contains items identified during the preparation of the attached Working Paper. As that study builds on earlier work, in particular two studies carried out in the mid-1980s, [note 1] the selection of documents presented here concentrates on material published after 1986. It also reflects the range of libraries and institutions accessible to the compiler, which were principally those in the United Kingdom.

[Note 1. FAO. 1987. SMALL-SCALE FOREST-BASED PROCESSING ENTERPRISES. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations Forestry Paper 79. Rome, Italy.

- FALCONER, J., AND J. E. M. ARNOLD. 1989. HOUSEHOLD FOOD SECURITY AND FORESTRY: AN ANALYSIS OF SOCIOECONOMIC ISSUES. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forests, Trees and People, Community Forestry Note 1. Rome, Italy.]
- Abbot, P. 1991. "Household Economic Theory and the Development of Smallholder Forestry Practices in Malawi. MSc. thesis, University of Aberdeen, Forest Resource Studies, United Kingdom.
- Abd-Latif, M. 1987. RATTAN PROCESSING INDUSTRIES. Forest Research Institute of Malaysia (FRIM) Technical Information 1. Kepong, Malaysia.
- Abd-Rauf, S. 1982. "A Financial Appraisal of Rattan Manau ("Calamus manan") Cultivation at the Bukit Belala Forest Reserve." THE MALAYSIAN FORESTER 45(4):576-82.
- Abdel-Fadil, M. 1992. ON THE DYNAMICS OF THE INTERFACE BETWEEN FORMAL AND INFORMAL ECONOMIES IN LDCS. Institute of Development Studies (IDS) Discussion Paper 301. University of Sussex, Brighton, United Kingdom.
- Addo, S. T. 1990. "The Transportation Factor in Woodfuel Distribution in Ghana." THE JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT STUDIES 3(6):1-12.
- Aiken, S. R., and C. H. Leigh. 1992. VANISHING RAIN FOREST, THE ECOLOGICAL TRANSITION IN MALAYSIA. Oxford, United Kingdom: Clarendon Press.
- Alcorn, J. B. 1985. "Development Policy, Forests and Peasant Farmers: Reflections on Huastec-managed Forests' Contributions to Commercial Production and Resource Conservation." ECONOMIC BOTANY 38:389-406.
- Allegretti, M. H. 1990. "Extractive Reserves: An Alternative for Reconciling Development and Environmental Conservation in Amazonia." In A. B. Anderson, ed., ALTERNATIVES TO DEFORESTATION: STEPS TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE USE OF THE AMAZON RAIN FOREST. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Anderson, A. B. 1987. "Management of Native Palm Forests: A Comparison of Case Studies in Indonesia and Brazil." In H. L. Gholz, ed., AGROFORESTRY: REALITIES, POSSIBILITIES AND POTENTIALS. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Martinus Nijhoff.
- ----. 1989. "Land-use Strategies for Successful Extractive Economies." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:67-78.
- Anderson, A. B., ed. 1990. ALTERNATIVES TO DEFORESTATION: STEPS TOWARD SUSTAINABLE USE OF THE AMAZON RAIN FOREST. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Anderson, A. B., and E. M. Ioris. 1992. "The Logic of Extraction: Resource Management and Income Generation by

- Extractive Producers in the Amazon Estuary." In K. H. Redford and C. Padoch, eds., CONSERVATION OF NEOTROPICAL FORESTS. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Arnold, J. E. M., M. E. Chipeta, and Y. Fisseha. 1987. "The Importance of Small Forest-based Processing Enterprises in Developing Countries." UNASYLVA 39(3&4):8-16.
- Arnold, J. E. M., and P. A. Dewees, eds. (forthcoming). TREE MANAGEMENT IN FARMER STRATEGIES: RESPONSES TO AGRICULTURAL INTENSIFICATION. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Asante, E. O., K. A. Tutu, S. A. Brempong, S. M. Ntim, and B. Osei. 1991. PROTECTION OF THE FORESTRY INDUSTRY. Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources Technical Report. Accra, Ghana.
- Ascher, W., and R. G. Healy. 1990. NATURAL RESOURCES POLICY-MAKING IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: ENVIRONMENT, ECONOMIC GROWTH AND INCOME DISTRIBUTION. Durham, North Carolina and London, United Kingdom: Duke University Press.
- Ato, V. A. 1987. "Charcoal Production and Marketing Scheme: The Case of Pagkalinawan, Jalajala, Rizal." Learning Site Series, Social Forestry 6. University of the Philippines, College of Forestry, Department of Social Forestry, Social Forestry Program, Los Ba\$os, Philippines.
- Ave, W. 1986. "The Use of Rattan by a Semai Community in West Malaysia." PRINCIPES 30(4):143-150.
- Bailey, R. C., M. Jenike, and R. Rechtman. 1991. "The Rain-forest Ecosystem as a Resource for Hunting and Gathering Reply." AMERICAN ANTHROPOLOGIST 93(1):160-162.
- Bajracharya, D., M. Banskota, E. Cecelski, and J. Denholm. 1990. WOMEN AND THE MANAGEMENT OF ENERGY, FORESTS AND OTHER RESOURCES. International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), Mountain Population and Employment Discussion Paper 3. Kathmandu, Nepal.
- Bal e, W. 1988. "Indigenous Adaptation to Amazonian Palm Forests." PRINCIPES 32(2):47-54.
- Balick, M. J. 1984. "Palms, People and Progress." HORIZONS 3(4):32-37.
- ----. 1985. "Useful Plants of Amazonia: A Resource of Global Importance." In G. T. Prance and T. E. Lovejoy, eds., KEY ENVIRONMENTS: AMAZONIA. Oxford, United Kingdom: Pergamon Press.
- ----. 1992. "Assessing the Economic Value of Traditional Medicines from Tropical Rain Forests." CONSERVATION BIOLOGY 6(1):128-130.
- Barker, K., P. Boateng, and A. Moreno. 1991. TIMBER AND WOOD PRODUCTS SECTION OF EXPORT DIVERSIFICATION IN GHANA. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Agency for International Development.

- Basu, R., and T. G. Johnson. 1988. CONTRIBUTION OF FORESTRY TO ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO EMPLOYMENT AND INCOME IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: AN ANNOTATED BIBLIOGRAPHY. Southeastern Center for Forest Economics Research, Forestry Private Enterprise Initiative (FPEI) Working Paper 31. Research Triangle Park, North Carolina.
- Bates, D. M. 1985. "Plant Utilisation: Patterns and Prospects." ECONOMIC BOTANY 39:241-265.
- Bertrand, A. 1985. "Marketing Networks for Forest Fuels to Supply Urban Centers in the Sahel." RURAL-AFRICANA 23/24:33-47.
- Boomgard, J. J. 1983. "The Economics of Small-scale Furniture Production and Distribution in Thailand." Ph.D. diss., Michigan State University, Department of Agricultural Economics, East Lansing, Michigan.
- Boomgard, J. J., S. P. Davies, S. J. Haggblade, and D. C. Mead. 1991. A SUBSECTOR APPROACH TO SMALL ENTERPRISE PROMOTION AND RESEARCH. Growth and Equity through Microenterprise Investments and Institutions (GEMINI) Project Working Paper 10. Bethesda, Maryland.
- Bray, D. B. 1991. "The Struggle for the Forest. Conservation and Development in the Sierra Ju rez." GRASSROOTS DEVELOPMENT 15(3):13-25.
- Browder, J. O. 1990. "Social and Economic Constraints on the Development of Market-oriented Extractive Reserves in Amazon Rain Forests." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:33-42.
- ----. 1992. "The Limits of Extractivism: Tropical Forest Strategies Beyond Extractive Reserves." BIOSCIENCE 42(3):174-182
- Burman, J. J. R. 1990. "A Need for Reappraisal of Minor Forest Produce Policies." INDIAN JOURNAL OF SOCIAL WORK 51(4):649-658.
- Butler, J. R. 1992. "Non-timber Forest Product Extraction in Amazonia: Lessons from Development Organizations." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:87-100.
- Campbell, B. M. 1987. "The Use of Wild Fruits in Zimbabwe." ECONOMIC BOTANY 41(3):375-385.
- Campbell, J. Y., ed. 1991a. CASE STUDIES IN FOREST-BASED SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES IN ASIA. RATTAN, MATCHMAKING AND HANDICRAFTS. Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forests, Trees and People, Community Forestry Case Study 4. Bangkok, Thailand.
- ----. 1991b. WOMEN'S ROLE IN DYNAMIC FOREST-BASED SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES. Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forests, Trees and People, Community Forestry Case Study 3. Bangkok, Thailand.

- Chetty, N. V. R. 1983. "Forest-based Small-scale and Rural Industries with Particular Reference to Linkages with Social Forestry Programmes." MYFOREST 19(4):239-256.
- Chin, S. C. 1986. "Traditional Uses of Forest Products."
 Paper prepared for the workshop Advances in Tropical Forest
 Ecological Research and Relevance to the Management of Forest
 Resources in Southeast Asia. United Nations Educational,
 Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) Man and
 Biosphere Program (MAB), Kepong, Malaysia.
- Chipeta, M. E., comp. 1986. "Case 1: Republic of Korea (1958-1982)." CASE STUDIES ON CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANCE AND CHARACTERISTICS OF SMALL-SCALE FOREST-BASED PROCESSING ENTERPRISES DURING ECONOMIC GROWTH. Policy and Planning Service, Forestry Department. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations.
- Clay, J. W. 1988. "Indigenous Peoples and Tropical Forests. Models of Land Use and Management from Latin America." CULTURAL SURVIVAL REPORT 27.
- Colchester, M. 1989. "Indian Development in Amazonia: Risks and Strategies." ECOLOGIST 19(6):249-254.
- Colfer, C. 1983. "Change and Indigenous Agroforestry in East Kalimantan." BORNEO RESEARCH BULLETIN 15(2):70.
- Colinvaux, P. A., and M. B. Bush. 1991. "The Rain-forest Ecosystem as a Resource for Hunting and Gathering." AMERICAN ANTHROPOLOGIST 93(1):153-160.
- Conelly, W. T. 1985. "Copal and Rattan Collecting in the Philippines." ECONOMIC BOTANY 39(1):39-46.
- Cortes, M., A. Berry, and A. Ishaq. 1987. SUCCESS IN SMALL-AND MEDIUM-SCALE ENTERPRISES. THE EVIDENCE FROM COLOMBIA. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Croll, E., and D. Parkin, eds. 1992. BUSH BASE: FOREST FARM. CULTURE, ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT. London, United Kingdom: Routledge.
- Cunningham, A. B. 1991a. "Commercial Craftwork: Balancing out Human Needs and Resources." SOUTH AFRICAN JOURNAL OF BOTANY 53:259-266.
- ----. 1991b. "Development of a Conservation Policy on Commercially Exploited Medicinal Plants: A Case Study from Southern Africa." In O. Akerele, V. Heywood, and H. Synge, eds., CONSERVATION OF MEDICINAL PLANTS. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.
- ----. 1991c. "Indigenous Knowledge and Biodiversity." CULTURAL SURVIVAL QUARTERLY 15(3):4-8.
- Cunningham, A. B., and S. J. Milton. 1987. "Effects of Basket Weaving Industry on Mokola Palm and Dye Plants in Northwestern Botswana." ECONOMIC BOTANY 41(3):386-402.

- Davies, A. G., and P. Richards. 1991. "Rain Forest in Mende Life: Resources and Subsistence Strategies in Rural Communities Around the Gola North Forest Reserve (Sierra Leone)." Report to the Economic and Social Committee for Overseas Research (ESCOR), Overseas Development Administration (ODA), London, United Kingdom.
- Dawson. J. 1988. "Small-scale Industry Development in Ghana: A Case Study of Kumasi." Paper prepared for the Economic and Social Committee for Overseas Research (ESCOR). Overseas Development Administration (ODA), London, United Kingdom.
- de Beer, J. H., and M. J. McDermott. 1989. THE ECONOMIC VALUE OF NON-TIMBER FOREST PRODUCTS IN SOUTHEAST ASIA, WITH EMPHASIS ON INDONESIA, MALAYSIA AND THAILAND. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Committee for International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN).
- Dei, G. J. S. 1989. "Hunting and Gathering in a Ghanaian Rain Forest Community." ECOLOGY OF FOOD AND NUTRITION 22(3):225-243.
- Dransfield, J. 1988. "Prospect for Rattan Cultivation." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 6:190-200.
- Dufour, D. L. 1990. "Use of Tropical Rainforest by Native Amazonians." BIOSCIENCE 40(9):652-659.
- Dunham, D. 1991. AGRICULTURAL GROWTH AND RURAL INDUSTRY: SOME REFLECTIONS ON THE RURAL GROWTH LINKAGES DEBATE. Institute of Social Studies (ISS) Working Paper 114. The Haque, Netherlands.
- Elleithy, A. 1992. "Economies of Scale and Small Firms in Developing Countries: Theoretical and Empirical Issues."

 JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 4(4):463-476.
- Ellenbroek, W. E. 1988a. "Characteristics of Wood-selling Farmers in the Gunung Kidul District (Central Java, Indonesia)." Communications 2. Fakultas Kehutanan Universitas Gadjah Mada, Forestry/Nature Conservation Project, Bulaksumur, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.
- ----. 1988b. THE WOOD MARKETING SYSTEM IN GUNUNG KIDUL, CENTRAL JAVA, INDONESIA. Fakultas Kehutanan Universitas Gadjah Mada, Forestry/Nature Conservation Project Communications 7. Bulaksumur, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.
- Evans, H. E., and P. Ngan. 1991. "Rural-urban Relations: Household Income Diversification and Agricultural Productivity." DEVELOPMENT AND CHANGE 22:519-45.
- Falconer, J. 1990. THE MAJOR SIGNIFICANCE OF "MINOR" FOREST PRODUCTS: THE LOCAL USE AND VALUE OF FORESTS IN THE WEST AFRICAN HUMID FOREST ZONE. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forests, Trees and People, Community Forestry Note 6. Rome, Italy.
- ---- 1991. "People's Uses and Trade in Nontimber Forest Products in Southern Ghana: A Pilot Study." Draft Working

- Paper. Ghana Forestry Department/Overseas Development Administration (ODA), Forest Resources Management Project, Ghana/United Kingdom.
- Falconer, J., and J. E. M. Arnold. 1989. HOUSEHOLD FOOD SECURITY AND FORESTRY: AN ANALYSIS OF SOCIOECONOMIC ISSUES. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forests, Trees and People, Community Forestry Note 1. Rome, Italy.
- Fearnside, P. M. 1989. "Extractive Reserves in Brazilian Amazonia." BIOSCIENCE 39(6):387-393.
- Fernandes, W. 1987. TRIBAL WOMEN AND FOREST ECONOMY. DEFORESTATION, EXPLOITATION AND STATUS CHANGE. Indian Social Institute, Tribes of India Series 1. New Delhi, India.
- ----. 1990. "Forest Policy A Solution to Tribal Deprivation." INDIAN JOURNAL OF SOCIAL WORK 51(1):35-56.
- Fernandes, W., G. Menon, and P. Viegas. 1988. FORESTS, ENVIRONMENT AND TRIBAL ECONOMY. DEFORESTATION, IMPOVERISHMENT AND MARGINALISATION IN ORISSA. Indian Social Institute, Tribes of India Series 2. New Delhi, India.
- Fisseha, Y. 1987. "Basic Features of Rural Small-scale Forest-based Processing Enterprises in Developing Countries." In SMALL-SCALE FOREST-BASED PROCESSING ENTERPRISES. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations Forestry Paper 79. Rome, Italy.
- Fisseha, Y., and J. Milimo. 1986. RURAL SMALL-SCALE FOREST-BASED PROCESSING ENTERPRISES IN ZAMBIA: REPORT OF A 1985 PILOT SURVEY. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, FO:MISC/86/15. Rome, Italy.
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations. 1987a. FOREST-BASED RURAL ENTERPRISES: PAKISTAN. Bangkok, Thailand: Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific (RAPA).
- ----. 1987b. SMALL-SCALE FOREST-BASED PROCESSING ENTERPRISES. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) Forestry Paper 79. Rome, Italy.
- Fuwape, J. F. 1992. "Contributions of Forest Industries to Rural Community Development in Nigeria." JOURNAL OF WORLD FOREST RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 6(1):41-48.
- Gianno, R. 1986a. "The Exploitation of Resinous Products in a Lowland Malayan Forest." WALLACEANA 43:3-6.
- Gianno, R. 1986b. "Resin Classification among the Semelai of Tasek Bera, Puhang, Malaysia." ECONOMIC BOTANY 40(2):186-200.
- Godoy, R. A. 1990. "The Economics of Traditional Rattan Cultivation." AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 12:163-172.
- Godoy, R. A., N. L. V. Brokaw, and D. Wilkie. 1992. "The Effects of Economic Development on the Extraction of Nontimber Tropical Forest Products: Hypotheses, Methods and

- Information Requirements." Draft report. Harvard University, Harvard Institute for International Development, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Godoy, R. A., and T. C. Feaw. 1989. THE PROFITABILITY OF SMALLHOLDER RATTAN CULTIVATION IN SOUTHERN BORNEO, INDONESIA. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University, Harvard Institute for International Development.
- ----. 1990. "Agricultural Diversification among Smallholder Rattan Cultivators in Central Kalimantan, Indonesia." AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 13:27-40.
- Goldsmith, P. 1988. "The Production and Marketing of Miraa in Kenya." In R. Cohen, ed., SATISFYING AFRICA'S FOOD NEEDS: FOOD PRODUCTION AND COMMERCIALIZATION IN AFRICAN AGRICULTURE. Carter Studies on Africa. Boulder, Colorado: Lynne Rienner Publishers Inc.
- Gosses, A., K. Molenaar, Q. Sluijs, and R. Teszler eds. 1989. SMALL ENTERPRISES, NEW APPROACHES: PROCEEDINGS OF THE WORKSHOP "SMALL ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT IN SEARCH OF NEW DUTCH APPROACHES" THE HAGUE, 6TH AND 7TH MARCH 1989. The Hague, Netherlands: Operations Review Unit, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Operations Review Unit.
- Gupta, T., and A. Guleria. 1982. SOME ECONOMIC AND MANAGEMENT ASPECTS OF A NON-WOOD FOREST PRODUCT IN INDIA: TENDU LEAVES. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Guzman-Rivas, P. 1984. "Coconut and Other Palm Use in Mexico and the Philippines." PRINCIPES 28(1):20-30.
- Hadi, S. 1991. "Forest-based Handicrafts in Indonesia." In Campbell, J. Y., ed., CASE STUDIES IN FOREST-BASED SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES IN ASIA. RATTAN, MATCHMAKING AND HANDICRAFTS. Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forests, Trees and People, Community Forestry Case Study 4. Bangkok, Thailand.
- Haggblade, S., and P. B. Hazell. 1989. "Agricultural Technology and Farm-nonfarm Linkages." AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS 3:345-364.
- Haggblade, S., P. B. Hazell, and J. Brown. 1988. FARM-NONFARM LINKAGES IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA. Policy, Planning and Research Working Paper 6. Agriculture and Rural Development (ARD), World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- Haggblade, S., and C. Liedholm. 1991. AGRICULTURE, RURAL LABOR MARKETS, AND EVOLUTION OF THE RURAL NON-FARM ECONOMY. Growth and Equity through Microenterprise Investments and Institutions (GEMINI) Project Working Paper 19. Bethesda, Maryland.
- Haggblade, S., C. Liedholm, and D. C. Mead. 1986. THE EFFECT OF POLICY AND POLICY REFORMS ON NON-AGRICULTURAL ENTERPRISES AND EMPLOYMENT IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: A REVIEW OF PAST EXPERIENCES. Harvard Institute for International Development,

- Employment and Enterprise Policy Analysis Discussion Paper 1. Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Hames, R. B. 1987. "Game Conservation or Efficient Hunting?" In B. J. MacCay and J. H. Acheson, eds., THE QUESTION OF THE COMMONS. THE CULTURE AND ECOLOGY OF COMMUNAL RESOURCES. Tucson, Arizona: The University of Arizona Press.
- Hanson, J. H. 1992. "Extractive Economies in a Historical Perspective: Gum Arabic in West Africa." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:107-114.
- Harvard University. 1989. MARKETING NON-TIMBER TROPICAL FOREST PRODUCTS: PROSPECTS AND PROMISE. A WORKSHOP REPORT. Report prepared by the Consultative Group on Biological Diversity in cooperation with Cultural Survival, Inc. Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Havnevik, K. 1980. ANALYSIS OF RURAL PRODUCTION AND INCOMES, RUFIJI DISTRICT, TANZANIA. Institute of Resource Assessment Research Paper 3 and Development Research and Action Programme (DERAP) publication 152. Institute of Resource Assessment (IRA), University of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania and Chr. Michelsen Institute, Bergen, Norway.
- Healey, C. 1990. MARING HUNTERS AND TRADERS: PRODUCTION AND EXCHANGE IN THE PAPUA NEW GUINEA HIGHLANDS. Studies in Melanesian Anthropology 8. Berkeley, California: University of California Press.
- Hecht, S. B. 1985. "Environment, Development and Politics: Capital Accumulation and the Livestock Sector in Eastern Amazonia." WORLD DEVELOPMENT 13(6):663-684.
- ----. 1992. "Valuing Land Uses in Amazonia: Colonist Agriculture, Cattle, and Petty Extraction in Comparative Perspective." In K. H. Redford and C. Padoch, eds., CONSERVATION OF NEOTROPICAL FORESTS. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Hecht, S. B., A. B. Anderson, and P. H. May. 1989. "The Subsidy from Nature: Shifting Cultivation, Successional Palm Forests, and Rural Development." HUMAN ORGANIZATION 47(1):25-35.
- Hecht, S. B., and A. Cockburn. 1990. THE FATE OF THE FOREST: DEVELOPERS, DESTROYERS AND DEFENDERS OF THE AMAZON. London, United Kingdom: Penguin Books.
- Henk, T. 1990. LABOUR AND WORK IN SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES. Institute of Social Studies (ISS) Working Paper 79. The Hague, Netherlands.
- Homma, A. K. O. 1992. "The Dynamics of Extraction in Amazonia: A Historical Perspective." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:23-32.
- Husain, A. 1988. "Economic Aspects of Exploitation of Medicinal Plants." Paper presented at World Health Organization (WHO)/International Union for the Conservation of

- Nature (IUCN)/World Wildlife Fund (WWF) International Consultation on the Conservation of Medicinal Plants, Chiang Mai, Thailand.
- Hyman, E. L. 1983. "Analysis of the Woodfuels Market: A Survey of Fuelwood Sellers and Charcoal Makers in the Province of Ilocos Norte." BIOMASS 3:167-197.
- International Development Research Centre (IDRC). 1985. PROCEEDINGS OF THE RATTAN SEMINAR, 2ND 4TH OCTOBER, 1984. KUALA LUMPUR, MALAYSIA. Forest Research Institute of Malaysia, The Rattan Information Centre, Kepong, Malaysia.
- ----. 1988. PROCEEDINGS OF THE INTERNATIONAL RATTAN SEMINAR, NOVEMBER 12 14, 1987. CHIANG MAI, THAILAND. Kasetsart University, Thailand and the International Development Research Centre (IDRC), Ottawa, Canada.
- ----. 1990. OPTIONS FOR STRENGTHENING RESEARCH ON BAMBOO AND RATTAN. Ottawa, Canada.
- International Labour Office (ILO) Forestry and Wood Industries Committee. 1991. TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES IN THE WOOD INDUSTRIES WITH SPECIAL EMPHASIS ON TRAINING NEEDS AND EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES. Forestry and Wood Industries Committee, Second session, Report 2. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Irvine, D. 1989. "Succession Management and Resource Distribution in an Amazonian Rain Forest." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 7:223-237.
- Isara, V. 1987. RATTAN AS A MAIN MINOR FOREST PRODUCT OF THAILAND. A Group Training in Social Forestry Paper.
 Kasetsart University, Faculty of Forestry, Bangkok, Thailand.
- Islam, R., ed. 1987. RURAL INDUSTRIALISATION AND EMPLOYMENT IN ASIA. New Delhi, India: International Labour Organization (ILO) and the Asian Regional Team for Employment Promotion (ARTEP).
- ----. 1992. TRANSFER, ADOPTION AND DIFFUSION OF TECHNOLOGY FOR SMALL AND COTTAGE INDUSTRIES. New Delhi, India: International Labour Organisation (ILO) and the Asian Regional Team for Employment Promotion (ARTEP)/World Employment Programme.
- Jeanrenaud, S. 1991. "A Study of Forest Use, Agricultural Practices and Perceptions of the Rainforest: Etinde Rainforest, South West Cameroon." Prepared for U.K. Overseas Development Administration (ODA), London, United Kingdom.
- Jessup, T. C. 1983. INTERACTIONS BETWEEN PEOPLE AND FOREST IN THE APO KAYAN FOREST. The 1979/1982 East Kalimantan Man and Biosphere Project Final report. Washington, D.C.: National Academy of Sciences.
- Jessup, T. C., and N. L. Peluso. 1986. "Minor Forest Products as Common Property Resources in East Kalimantan, Indonesia." In Panel on Common Property, eds., COMMON PROPERTY RESOURCES. Washington, D.C.: National Academy of Sciences.

- Jha, L. K., and K. N. Jha. 1985. "Tassar Culture and its Impact on Generation of Income and Employment." MYFOREST 21(4):289-294.
- Johnson, A. 1989. "How the Machiguenga Manage Resources: Conservation or Exploitation of Nature?" ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 7:213-222.
- Johnson, N., B. Cabarle, and D. Mead. 1992. "Natural Forest Management and the Future of Tropical Forests." Draft. World Resources Institute, New York.
- Kainer, K. A., and M. L. Duryea. 1992. "Tapping Women's Knowledge: Plant Resource Use in Extractive Reserves, Acre, Brazil." ECONOMIC BOTANY 46(4):408-425.
- Kamara, J. N. 1986. FIREWOOD ENERGY IN SIERRA LEONE: PRODUCTION, MARKETING AND HOUSEHOLD USE PATTERNS. Verlag Weltarchiv Studies 9. Hamburg, Germany.
- Kathuria, S. 1988. INDIAN HANDICRAFTS EXPORTS: CONSTRAINTS AND PROSPECTS. New Delhi, India: Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations.
- Kaye, V. 1987. ETUDE SUR LES POTENTIALITES DE L'ARTISANAT D'ART EN C TE D'IVOIRE: PLAN TRIENNAL DE DEVELOPPEMENT DE L'ARTISNAT D'ART. Cote d'Ivoire: Sous Direction de l'Artisanat d'Art, Direction de Promotion de l'Artisanat.
- Kgathi, D. L. 1984. ASPECTS OF FIREWOOD TRADE BETWEEN RURAL KWENENG AND URBAN GABARONE: A SOCIOECONOMIC PERSPECTIVE. National Institute of Development Research and Documentation Working Paper 46. Gabarone, Botswana.
- Khera, P. D. 1990. "The Baiga and Sal Forests." THE EASTERN ANTHROPOLOGIST 43(3):241-250.
- Kilby, P. 1982. SMALL-SCALE INDUSTRY IN KENYA. Michigan State University Rural Development Series Working Paper 20. East Lansing, Michigan.
- Kilby, P., and C. Liedholm. 1986. THE ROLE OF NON-FARM ACTIVITIES IN THE RURAL ECONOMY. Employment and Enterprise Policy Analysis Discussion Paper 7. Harvard Institute for International Development, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Kimman, P. J. 1988. FEATURES OF POLICY, PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT IN RURAL DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES ON JAVA, INDONESIA, WITH SPECIAL REFERENCE TO THE FORESTRY SECTOR: INVOLVES A CASE-STUDY IN SPECIAL PROVINCE YOGYAKARTA. Fakultas Kehutanan Universitas Gadjah Mada Forestry/Nature Conservation Project Communications 6. Bulaksumur, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.
- King, K. 1987. AN EVALUATION OF RESEARCH AND POLICIES IN INFORMAL SECTOR EMPLOYMENT IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES. Edinburgh, United Kingdom: Centre for African Studies, Edinburgh University.

- Lamb, D. 1991. "Combining Traditional and Commercial Uses of Rain Forests." NATURE AND RESOURCES 27(2):3-11.
- Leach, M. 1992. "Gender and the Environment: Traps and Opportunities." DEVELOPMENT IN PRACTICE 2(1):12-22.
- Levitsky, J. 1989. "Microenterprises in Developing Countries." Paper and proceedings from the international conference, 6 - 9 June, 1988, Committee of Donor Agencies for Small Enterprise Development, Washington, D.C.
- Liedholm, C. 1990. THE DYNAMICS OF SMALL-SCALE INDUSTRY IN AFRICA AND THE ROLE OF POLICY. Growth and Equity through Microenterprise Investments and Institutions (GEMINI) Project Working Paper 2. Bethesda, Maryland.
- Liedholm, C., and D. C. Mead. 1987. SMALL-SCALE INDUSTRIES IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS. Department of Agricultural Economics, Michigan State University International Development Paper 9. East Lansing, Michigan.
- ---- 1992. "The Structure and Growth of Microenterprises in Southern and Eastern Africa: Evidence from Recent Surveys." Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan.
- Liedholm, C., and J. Parker. 1989. SMALL-SCALE MANUFACTURING GROWTH IN AFRICA: INITIAL EVIDENCE. Harvard Institute for International Development Employment and Enterprise Policy Analysis Discussion Paper 25. Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Little, I. M. D., D. Mazumdar, and J. M. Page. 1987. SMALL MANUFACTURING ENTERPRISES: A COMPARATIVE STUDY OF INDIA AND OTHER ECONOMIES. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Livingstone, I. 1990. DEVELOPMENT AND DIVERSIFICATION OF RURAL INDUSTRIAL ACTIVITIES IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES. University of East Anglia, School of Development Studies Discussion Paper 213. Norwich, United Kingdom.
- London Environmental Economics Centre. 1992. "Economic Analysis of Tropical Forest Land Use Options. A Preliminary Review of the Literature." Draft. International Institute for Environment and Development, London Environmental Economics Centre, London, United Kingdom.
- Lubell, H. 1991. THE INFORMAL SECTOR IN THE 1980'S AND 1990'S. Paris, France: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).
- Madge, C. 1990. "Money, Medicine and Masquerades: Women, Collecting and Rural Development in the Gambia." Ph.D. diss., University of Birmingham, School of Geography, Faculty of Arts, Birmingham, United Kingdom.
- Mahat, T. B. S. 1987. FORESTRY-FARMING LINKAGES IN THE MOUNTAINS. International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD) Occasional Paper 7. Kathmandu, Nepal.

- Mankoran, N. 1990. THE STATE OF THE RATTAN AND BAMBOO TRADE. Forest Research Institute of Malaysia, Rattan Information Centre Occasional Paper 7. Kepong, Malaysia.
- Marks, S., and R. Robbins. 1984. "People in Forestry in Zambia." Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forestry Department, Rome, Italy.
- May, P. H. 1990. "Local Product Markets for Babacu and Agro-industrial Change in Maranhao, Brazil." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 8:92-102.
- ----. 1992. "Common Property Resources in the Neotropics: Theory, Management and Action Agenda." In K. H. Redford and C. Padoch, eds., CONSERVATION OF NEOTROPICAL FORESTS. New York: Columbia University Press.
- May, P. H., A. B. Anderson, J. M. F. Frazao, and M. J. Balick. 1985. "Babacu palm in the Agroforestry Systems in Brazil's Mid-north Region." AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 3(39):275-295.
- Maydell, H. J. von. 1992. "The Importance of Agroforestry and of Secondary Forest Products in the Management of Natural Forests in Semi-arid Africa." In J. Fries, ed., MANAGEMENT OF NATURAL FORESTS IN THE SEMI-ARID AREAS OF AFRICA PRESENT KNOWLEDGE AND RESEARCH NEEDS. Uppsala, Sweden: International Rural Development Centre, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- McKean, C. S. 1988. "Small-scale Manufacturing: The Potential and Limitations for Growth The Case of Wood Products in Ecuador." MPhil. thesis, University of Sussex, Institute of Development Studies, Brighton, United Kingdom.
- Mead, D. C. 1982. "Small Industries in Egypt: An Exploration of the Economics of Small Furniture Producers." INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF MIDDLE EAST STUDIES 14:159-171.
- ----. 1991. "Review Article: Small Enterprises and Development." ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND CULTURAL CHANGE 39(2):409-420.
- Mead, D. C., and A. Ngirabatware. 1987. EXAMEN DU SOUS-SECTOR BOIS AU RWANDA. Direction Generale de la Politique Economique, Ministere des Finances et de l'Economie, Programme de Soutien a la Reforme de la Politique Industrielle et de l'Emploi, Etudes des Mesures d'Encouragement a l'Investissement et a l'Emploi document de Travail 2. Kigali, Rwanda.
- Menon, K. D. 1980. "Rattan: A State of the Art Review." In International Development Research Center (IDRC), RATTAN: A REPORT OF A WORKSHOP HELD IN SINGAPORE, 4 6 JUNE 1979, Ottawa, Canada.
- Metz, J. J. 1990. "Forest-product Use in Upland Nepal." GEOGRAPHICAL REVIEW 80(3):279-287.

- Michon, G. F., J. Bompard, and M. Bompard. 1987. "Multistoried Agroforestry Garden Systems in West Sumatra, Indonesia." AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 4:315-338.
- Mohamed, M., and T. T. Chuan. 1991. "Effects of Deforestation: With Special Reference to East Malaysia." BORNEO REVIEW 2(2):134-144.
- Moredo, F. C., M. T. Centeno, T. G. Cuaresma, and E. C. Amio. 1983. "Profile of the Philippine Forest-based Industries: The Cottage-type and Small-scale Industries." FPRDI-JOURNAL 12(1/2):32-44, 68.
- Nadkarni, M. V., S. A. Pasha, and L. S. Prabhakar. 1989. THE POLITICAL ECONOMY OF FOREST USE AND MANAGEMENT. New Delhi, India: Sage Publications.
- Nanjundan, S. 1987. "Small and Medium Enterprises: Some Basic Development Issues." INDUSTRY AND DEVELOPMENT 20:1-50.
- Nepstad, D. C. 1992. "The Challenge of Non-timber Forest Product Extraction." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:143-146.
- Nepstad, D. C., F. Brown, L. Luz, A. Alechandra, and V. Viana. 1992. "Biotic Impoverishment of Amazonian Forests by Rubber Tappers, Loggers, and Cattle Ranchers." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:1-14.
- Nepstad, D. C., and S. Schwartzmann. 1992. "Non-timber Products from Tropical Forests: Evaluation of a Conservation and Development Strategy." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9. Bronx, New York: The New York Botanical Garden.
- Nichol, J. E. 1990. "Dynamics of Indigenous Fuelwood Production Systems: An Analysis of Kano, Nigeria." SINGAPORE JOURNAL OF TROPICAL GEOGRAPHY 11(1):43-55.
- Norton, A. 1988. THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC BACKGROUND TO COMMUNITY FORESTRY IN THE NORTHERN REGION OF GHANA. London, United Kingdom: Overseas Development Administration (ODA).
- Nugent, S. 1991. "The Limitations of Environmental `Management': Forest Utilization in the Lower Amazon." In D. Goodman and M. Redclift, eds., ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT IN LATIN AMERICA: THE POLITICS OF SUSTAINABILITY. Manchester, United Kingdom: Manchester University Press.
- Pachauri, R. 1991. SAL PLATE PROCESSING AND MARKETING IN WEST BENGAL. Ford Foundation Sustainable Forest Management Working Paper 12. New Delhi, India.
- Packham, J. 1991. "The Value of Indigenous Fruit Bearing Trees in Miombo Woodland Areas of South-central Africa." MSc. report in Agricultural Economics, University of London, Wye College, London, United Kingdom.
- Padoch, C. 1988a. "The Economic Importance and Marketing of Forest and Fallow Products in the Iquitos Region." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 5:74-89.

- ----. 1988. "Aguaje (Mauritia flexuosa L. f.) in the Economy of Iquitos, Peru." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 6:214-224.
- ----. 1990. "Marketing of Non-timber Forest Products in Western Amazonia: General Observations and Research Priorities." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:43-50.
- Padoch, C., J. Chota, W. DeJong, and J. Unruh. 1985. "Amazonian Agroforestry: A Market-oriented System in Peru." AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 3:47-58.
- Padoch, C., and W. DeJong. 1990. "Santa Rosa: The Impact of the Forest Products Trade on an Amazonian Place and Population." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 8:151-158.
- Page, J. M., Jr., and W. Steel. 1989. SMALL ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT. ECONOMIC ISSUES FROM AFRICAN EXPERIENCE. World Bank Technical Paper 26. Washington, D.C.
- Panayotou, T., and P. S. Ashton. 1992. NOT BY TIMBER ALONE. ECONOMICS AND ECOLOGY FOR SUSTAINING TROPICAL FORESTS. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.
- Peluso, N. L. 1983. "Networking in the Commons: A Tragedy for Rattan?" INDONESIA 35:95-108.
- ----. 1986. RATTAN INDUSTRIES IN EAST KALIMANTAN, INDONESIA. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forestry Department, Policy and Planning Service. (A condensed version of this paper appears in Campbell, J. Y., ed., CASE STUDIES IN FOREST-BASED SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES IN ASIA. RATTAN, MATCHMAKING AND HANDICRAFTS. Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forests, Trees and People, Community Forestry Case Study 4. Bangkok, Thailand.
- ----. 1992a. "The Political Ecology of Extraction and Extractive Reserves in East Kalimantan, Indonesia." DEVELOPMENT AND CHANGE 23(4):49-74.
- ----. 1992b. "The Ironwood Problem: (Mis-)Management and Development of an Extractive Rainforest Product." CONSERVATION BIOLOGY 6(2):210-219.
- ----. 1992c. "Markets, Merchants and Forest Products on the Mahakam: Bugis Political-economic Strategies in Pre-colonial Kutai." In G. Acciaoli and K. Van Dyke, eds., AUTHORITY AND LEADERSHIP IN BUGIS SOCIETY. Leiden, Netherlands: Koninklijk Instituut voor Taal Land- en Volkenkunde.
- ----. 1992d. "The Rattan Trade in East Kalimantan, Indonesia." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:115-128.
- ----. 1992e. RICH FORESTS, POOR PEOPLE: RESOURCE CONTROL AND RESISTANCE IN JAVA. Berkeley, California: University of California Press.
- Peters, C. M., A. H. Gentry, and R. O. Mendelsohn. 1989. "Valuation of an Amazonian Rainforest." NATURE 339:656-357.

- Pick, P. J. 1985. BABASSU (ORBIGNYA SPECIES): GRADUAL DISAPPEARANCE VS. SLOW METAMORPHOSIS TO INTEGRATED AGRIBUSINESS. Bronx, New York: Institute of Economic Botany, New York Botanical Gardens.
- Pinedo-Vasquez, M., D. Zarin, and P. Jipp. 1990. "Land Use in the Amazon." NATURE 348:397.
- ----. 1992. "Economic Returns from Forest Conversion in the Peruvian Amazon." ECOLOGICAL ECONOMICS 6:163-173.
- Poffenberger, M., and M. Sarin. 1990. "Fiber Grass from Forest Land: A Case from North India." Ford Foundation, New Delhi, India.
- Poschen, P. 1987. "The Forestry-based Informal Sector in Developing Countries: An Assessment from ILO's Point of View." Paper presented at the Workshop of Experts on Training in the Urban Informal Sector of Developing Countries, 7 11 April, 1987, Turin, Italy by the International Labour Office.
- Posey, D. A. 1989. "A Preliminary Report on Diversified Management of Tropical Forest by the Kayapo Indians of the Brazilian Amazon." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 7:112-126.
- Prakash, S., and S. Chowdhury. 1990. "Ecological Implications of Economic Development of Meghalaya (India): A Study of Levels and Patterns of Consumption and Production of Forest-based Commodities." JOURNAL OF QUANTITATIVE ECONOMICS 6(1):161-183.
- Pye, E. A., ed. 1988. ARTISANS IN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: EVIDENCE FROM ASIA. International Development Research Centre (IDRC) 262e. Ottawa, Canada.
- Rasoanaivo, P. 1990. "Rain Forests of Madagascar: Sources of Industrial and Medicinal Plants." AMBIO 19(8):421-424.
- Rattan Information Centre. 1986. "The Small-scale Industries Project of FRIM." BULLETIN OF THE RATTAN INFORMATION CENTRE, 5(4), Kepong, Malaysia.
- ----. 1989. "Maintaining Rattan Supply in Peninsular Malaysia." BULLETIN OF THE RATTAN INFORMATION CENTRE, 8(1/4), Kepong, Malaysia.
- ----. 1990. "Small-scale Rattan Based Industries of South India." BULLETIN OF THE RATTAN INFORMATION CENTRE, 9(1), Kepong, Malaysia.
- ----. 1991. "Opportunities and Prospects for Large-scale Planting of Rattan in Peninsular Malaysia." BULLETIN OF THE RATTAN INFORMATION CENTRE, 10(2), Kepong, Malaysia.
- Redford, K. H. 1991. "Hunting in Neotropical Forests: A Subsidy from Nature." Paper presented at Nutrition in Tropical Forests, September 4, 1991, Paris, France, by the United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO).

- Redford, K. H., and C. Padoch. 1992. CONSERVATION OF NEOTROPICAL FORESTS. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Regino, M. M. 1989. "Taking Stock. Inventory Report of the Lesser-known Forest Species. Survey of the Local and Foreign Markets." CANOPY INTERNATIONAL 15(5):6-8.
- Reining, C. C. S., R. M. Heinzman, M. C. Madrid, S. Lopez, and A. Solorzano. 1991. "The Non-timber Forest Product Industries of the Maya Biosphere Reserve, Guatemala: Results of Ecological and Socio-economic Surveys." Conservation International, Washington, D.C..
- Richards, M. 1992. "A Review of the Impacts of the Commercialization of Extractive Forest Products on Welfare and Resource Use in Amazonia, and Implications for Sustainable Forest Management." Draft report. Natural Resources Institute, Chatham, United Kingdom.
- Riddell, R. C. 1990. MANUFACTURING AFRICA. PERFORMANCES AND PROSPECTS OF SEVEN COUNTRIES IN SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA. London, United Kingdom: Currey.
- Robinson, J. G., and K. H. Redford. 1991. NEOTROPICAL WILDLIFE USE AND CONSERVATION. Chicago, Illinois: University of Chicago Press.
- Romanoff, S. 1992. "Food and Debt Among Rubber Tappers in the Bolivian Amazon." HUMAN ORGANISATION 51(2):122-135.
- Ryan, P. 1989. THE LIMITATIONS OF SUPPLY SIDE APPROACHES TO ASSISTING SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES: EVIDENCE FROM MALAWI. University of Bradford, Development and Project Planning Centre, New Series Discussion Paper 11. Bradford, United Kingdom.
- Saith, A. 1992. THE RURAL NON-FARM ECONOMY: PROCESSES AND POLICIES. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Office.
- Sather, C. 1990. "Trees and Tree Tenure in Paku Iban Society: The Management of Secondary Forest Resources in a Long-established Iban Community." BORNEO REVIEW 1(1):16-40.
- Schwartzmann, S. 1992. "Land Distribution and the Social Costs of Frontier Development in Brazil: Social and Historical Context of Extractive Reserves." ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC BOTANY 9:51-66.
- Schwartzmann, S., and M. Allegretti. 1987. "Extractive Production in the Amazon and the Rubber Tapper's Movement." Environmental Defense Fund, New York.
- Shyam-Dhar, M. A. K., M. Y. Ansari, and S. Dhar. 1989. "Tendu Leaves - Their Collection and Trade for the Benefit of Rural People." INDIAN FORESTER 115(5):296-302.
- Siebert, S. F. 1986. "Notes on Rattan Collection and Trade in the Masamba District, Sulawesi Selatan." BORNEO RESEARCH BULLETIN 18(1):59-64.

- ----. 1987. "Land Use Intensification in Tropical Uplands: Effects on Vegetation, Soil Fertility and Erosion." FOREST ECOLOGY AND MANAGEMENT 21(1-2):37-56.
- Siebert, S. F., and J. M. Belsky. 1985. "Forest Product Trade in a Filipino Village." ECONOMIC BOTANY 39:522-533.
- Stanley, D. L. 1991. "Communal Forest Management: The Honduran Resin Tappers." DEVELOPMENT AND CHANGE 22(4):757-779.
- Stearman, A. M., and K. H. Redford. 1992. "Commercial Hunting by Subsistence Hunters: Sirion" Indians and Paraguayan Caiman in Lowland Bolivia." HUMAN ORGANISATION 51(3):235-244.
- Stephen, S. L. 1991. "Culture as a Resource: Four Cases of Self-managed Indigenous Craft Production in Latin America." ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND CULTURAL CHANGE 40(1):101-130.
- Stewart, T. 1992. "Land-use Options to Encourage Forest Conservation on a Tribal Reservation in the Philippines." AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 18:225-244.
- Svensson, B. 1991. BEES AND TREES. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, International Rural Development Centre, Forest, Trees and People Working Paper 183. Uppsala, Sweden.
- Sverrison, A. 1990. ENTREPRENEURSHIP AND INDUSTRIALISATION. A CASE STUDY OF CARPENTERS IN MUTARE, ZIMBABWE. University of Lund, Research Policy Institute, Research Policy Studies Discussion Paper 186. Lund, Sweden.
- Tandon, J. C. 1991. "The Safety Match Industry in India." In Campbell, J. Y., ed., CASE STUDIES IN FOREST-BASED SMALL-SCALE ENTERPRISES IN ASIA. RATTAN, MATCHMAKING AND HANDICRAFTS. Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Forests, Trees and People, Community Forestry Case Study 4. Bangkok, Thailand.
- Teal, F. 1992. THE DYNAMICS OF FIRM GROWTH IN GHANA. University of Oxford, Centre for the Study of African Economies, Africa Regional Program on Enterprise Development Project, Preliminary report. Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Tiffin, S., and F. Osotimehin with R. Saunders. 1992. NEW TECHNOLOGIES AND ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT IN AFRICA. Paris, France: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development.
- Torreta, N. K., and E. H. Belen. 1988. RATTAN: PROCEEDINGS OF THE NATIONAL SYMPOSIUM/WORKSHOP ON RATTAN. Ecotech Center, June 1 3, 1988, Lahug, Cebu City, Philippines.
- Townson, I. M. 1992. "Exhaustion, Abandonment and Sustainability. The Dynamics of Forest Product Use in West Africa with Particular Reference to the Export Trade." MSc. thesis, University of Oxford, Oxford Forestry Institute, Oxford, United Kingdom.

Turnham, D., B. Salome, and A. Schwartz. 1990. THE INFORMAL SECTOR REVISITED. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, Development Centre Seminars. Paris, France.

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)/National Energy Board, Ghana. 1988. THE CHARCOAL CYCLE IN GHANA - A BASELINE STUDY. FINAL REPORT. Project GHA/82/020. Ghana.

United Nations Industrial Development Organisation (UNIDO), Industrial Planning Branch. 1992. PRODUCTION MANAGEMENT FOR SMALL AND MEDIUM-SCALE FURNITURE MANUFACTURERS. A MANUAL FOR DEVELOPING COUNTRIES. General Studies Series. Vienna, Austria.

United Nations Industrial Development Organisation (UNIDO), Regional and Country Studies Branch, Industrial Policy and Perspectives Division. 1989. SMALL-SCALE AND RURAL INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS IN SOUTHEAST AND EAST ASIA - SELECTED CASE STUDIES. Vienna, Austria.

Uribe-Echevarr'ia, F. 1991. SMALL-SCALE MANUFACTURING AND REGIONAL INDUSTRIALISATION: THE URBAN AND REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT PERSPECTIVE. Institute for Social Studies (ISS) Working Paper 116. The Hague, Netherlands.

----. 1992. SMALL-SCALE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT: POLICY AND STRATEGIC ISSUES. Institute for Social Studies (ISS) Working Paper 117. The Hague, Netherlands.

Utting, P. 1991. THE SOCIAL ORIGINS AND IMPACT OF DEFORESTATION IN CENTRAL AMERICA. United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD) Discussion Paper 24. Geneva, Switzerland.

van Beek, W. E. A., and P. M. Banga. 1992. "The Dogon and Their Trees." In E. Croll and D. Parkin, eds., BUSH BASE: FOREST FARM. CULTURE, ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT. London, United Kingdom: Routledge.

van Buren, A. 1990. "The Woodfuel Market in Nicaragua. The Economics, Sociology and Management of a Natural Energy Resource." LATIN AMERICAN STUDIES 52. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Centro de Estudios y Documentacion Latinoamericanos.

Van der Poel, P., and H. van Dijk. 1987. "Household Economy and Tree Growing in Upland Central Java." AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 5:169-184.

Vandergeest, P. 1989. "Peasant Strategies in a World Context: Contingencies in the Transformation of Rice and Palm Sugar Economies in Thailand." HUMAN ORGANISATION 48(2):117-25.

van Dijk, M. P. 1990. "Role of SMEs and Microenterprises in Industrialisation." AFRICAN ENVIRONMENT 25-26-27-28, 7(1,2,3,4):394-409.

van Driel, A. 1990. "A Tree is More Than Only Fuelwood with Leaves." BOS NIEUWSLETTER 9(20):13-76.

- Vantomme, P. 1989. "La foret Amazonienne. Contribution des produits forestiers autres que les bois au developpement economique de la region." Paper presented at the International Union of Forest Research Organizations (IUFRO) seminar P5.01, 19 26 November, 1989, Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire.
- Vasquez, R., and A. H. Gentry. 1989. "Use and Misuse of Forest-harvested Fruits in the Iquitos Area." CONSERVATION BIOLOGY 3(4):350-361.
- Vayda, A. P., C. J. P. Colfer, and M. Brotokusumo. 1980. "Interactions Between People and Forests in East Kalimantan." IMPACT OF SCIENCE ON SOCIETY 30(3):17-190.
- Veer, C., and A. Sudjarwp. 1990. "The Other Half of Social Forestry: Forest-based Small-scale Processing Enterprises." In Social Forestry in Indonesia: Papers Presented at a Workshop Held at Gadjah Mada, 1 3 December, 1987, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific (RAPA), Regional Wood Energy Development Programme in Asia, GCP/RAS/131/NET Field Document 25. Bangkok, Thailand.
- Vimal, R. K., and M. Madan. 1990. "Role of Social Forestry for Rural Economic Development in India." NATIONAL BANK NEWS REVIEW BOMBAY 5(12):30-34.
- Webster, L. 1991. WORLD BANK LENDING FOR SMALL AND MEDIUM ENTERPRISES: FIFTEEN YEARS OF EXPERIENCE. World Bank Discussion Paper 113. Washington, D.C.
- Weinstock, J. A. 1983. "Rattan: Ecological Balance in a Borneo Rainforest Swidden." ECONOMIC BOTANY 37(1):58-68.
- Whitehead, B., and R. Godoy. 1991. "The Extraction of Rattan-like Lianas in the Neotropics." AGROFORESTRY SYSTEMS 15:348-362.